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  #89 - Kheper's Path I: Sunset


  The cover shows the Sun setting over the roof of the Cloisters in Manhattan. A number of figures with bowed heads stand in silhouette flanking the orb of the Sun.


  



  ACADEMY OF SUPER-HEROES ROLL CALL



  CODENAME / REAL NAME / POWERS / ASSIGNMENT


  Solar Max / Jonathan Zachary "JakZak" Taylor / Spacetime Control / AMERICA


  Meteor / Sarah Grant-Taylor / Superspeed / AMERICA


  Scorch / Scott Handleman / Pyrokinetic / CANADA


  Green Knight / Salvatore Napier / Strength, Regeneration / MEXICO


  Fury / Arin Kelsey / Concussion Blasts / MEXICO


  Contact / Aaron Zander / Psi, Mind-over-Body / DIPLOMATIC


  Breaker / Christina Li / Telekinesis / DIPLOMATIC


  Essay / Sara Ana Henderson / Gadgeteer /VENUS


  Peregryn / Howard Henderson Jr. / Elemental Mage / VENUS


  Beacon / George Sylvester / Living Light / VENUS


  Geode / Unknown / Living Crystal / VENUS


  Lightfoot / Tom Dodson / Velocity Control / TRANSIT


  ------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  [June 13, 2026 - Manhattan Autonomous Sector]


  One of the most basic rules of security is to avoid getting into any patterns, so that your enemies can't lay in wait. Rex Umbrae had known this since he was fresh from the modpod. Nevertheless, whenever his duties allowed it, every morning he would stop at the Gang War Memorial where the World Building had once stood. As a touch of irony and acknowledgement of the one who had helped unwillingly secure his control over the city, Umbrae had ordered that the memorial to the dead be an eternal flame.


  As he lit a stick of incense, Umbrae reflexively glanced at the one sniper position his people always left open...a marginal location, the sort of thing that might be accidentally overlooked in a security sweep. As far as his preternaturally sharp vision could tell, though, it was unoccupied.


  He placed the incense in one of the many holders provided at the base of the memorial and sampled the wind. The incense, a unique blend he had commissioned, didn't mask any of the scents that signaled danger. But he picked up nothing unfamiliar, only the usual smells of the city and of his security detail, which was keeping a respectful distance.


  There.


  A faint eddy in the smoke that shouldn't have been there, downwind where he couldn't smell anything.


  Umbrae stood and bowed to the flame, momentarily closing his eyes in respect for the dead. Just because he had been responsible for many of those dead didn't mean he had no respect for them, after all.


  The lethal strike to his kidney was converted to a faint tap as Umbrae sidestepped at the last possible instant, hearing the slight rush of air that must perforce accompany any killing blow.


  "Welcome to Questions Period," Umbrae chuckled, pulling off his suit coat and draping it over one arm. "It's been so long since anyone took advantage of this part of my schedule, I was starting to wonder if I needed to advertise it better. So, is your invisibility an inborn power, or a new device that my systems here haven't been adjusted to deactivate?"


  No response, so the attacker was competent. But not smart...he was still there. Not that escape would be easy, "Questions Period" was meant to be easy to get into and very hard to get out of, a trap with Umbrae himself as both bait and jaws.


  He feinted with his suitcoat, moving as if to try to use it to cover his unseen opponent, then hurled a spread of coins with his other hand. He supposed he could use some of those clever gadgets that his Hangmen employed, but what would the challenge be? He would deal with Questions Period using whatever he happened to have on hand.


  One of the coins bounced, and Umbrae was on the assassin in the blink of an eye, his massive bulk moving with the speed of the tiger whose genes had been part of his "recipie".


  The invisible became visible, a man limned in shimmering bronze energy who simply slid past Umbrae's fist.


  "Taograth," Umbrae said, recovering his footing after the lunge. "I don't believe we've ever had the pleasure of meeting socially...you were shipped off to the Cavity before I arrived here. [Taograth was aprehended in Warden #6 - Ed.] And killed in a prison riot, from what I heard."


  The Chinese paranormal sketched a slight bow. "Feigning death is a trivial exercise for one of the Onyx Eye. And there were so many truly dead in the wake of that event [Seen in CSV #11-12 - Ed.] that eventually the corpses were left alone and I was able to escape."


  "What brings you here with my death on your mind?" Umbrae asked, with the tone one might use when running into a casual acquaintance in line at the coffee shop.


  "I saw a chance to restore my honor and my position within the Onyx Eye. When I reveal to Barrukh that I have saved him from your latest round of 'cleaning house,' it will surely put me back in his high favor," Taograth explained. "With the city so complacently in the palm of your hand, it is clear from this morning's events that you have decided to close that hand into a fist once more."


  The morning's events? Ah.


  "I don't suppose protesting my innocence would matter?" Umbrae shrugged, a smirk tugging at the corners of his mouth.


  "It would not save your life, no," Taograth sneered openly, heedless of the security team that was staying back, and not caring why that might be.


  "Well, it was your life I was thinking of. Warden defeated you when he was still finding himself. He's never bested me in combat. And before you tell me how you've been training since your last encounter and have improved your skills...don't bother. Come, let us have an airing of grievances!"


  With that, Rex leapt like a tiger, twisting in mid-air to anticipate his target's evasion, and then blocked a counter-strike on his forearm. The bronze aura that flared brightly around Taograth's fist lent it supernatural force, and Umbrae was hurled sideways by the blow, landing less gracefully than he'd have liked.


  "This is where you grudgingly admit that I have gotten more powerful," Taograth snarled.


  "Depends on the script," Umbrae countered. "It could be where I point out that you haven't gotten as powerful as you think."


  "You've gotten soft, oh King of Shadows," Taograth lashed out with a series of blows that appeared to fall short, but that hammered at Umbrae with the force of the Onyx Eye warrior's deflection screen. "Ruling for so long with no serious challengers. Hellhound has never demonstrated the courage needed to beard you in your lair, and Warden walks the world outside this so-called 'Autonomous Zone.'"


  "You're right that I have had no serious challengers. And I'm not sure you qualify, but it *is* more exhiliating to once again face someone who genuinely wants me dead, and not just a sparring partner who fears my displeasure should he be too successful," Umbrae countered, showing little sign of injury and responding with a legsweep that forced Taograth to cease his latest attack and leap.


  "Well, I hope you have managed to get your blood flowing to your satisfaction, then," Taograth taunted, slamming down with an aura-ablaze foot and shattering the marble pavingstone next to Umbrae's hurriedly-withdrawn leg. "Because soon it will be flowing to *my* satisfaction!"


  "I doubt that," Umbrae backpedaled, carefully eyeing his opponent. "Besides, hasn't it even occurred to you to wonder why my security detail hangs back?"


  "No doubt your overweening ego. If they actually need to save you from me, it means the end of your ability to hold the city together," Taograth advanced into the shadows cast by one of the buildings still standing around the plaza.


  "Of course," Umbrae smiled as he ducked a kick aimed at his head and confirmed a hypothesis that he'd been forming. "But also, my ego demands good camera angles for the fight from the cybernetic eyes of my guard detail. It's a pity I won't be able to use this particular trap again, but at least I drew in someone worth springing it on."


  With that, he sidestepped a blazing right fist and drove his own massive right hand into Taograth's gut, striking the solar plexus nerve cluster and forcing Taograth to exhale in surprise and shock.


  The bronze aura dimmed, flickering as Taograth fought to retain consciousness, but the pause was enough.


  Rex Umbrae took the man's neck in his hands and started to squeeze. Slowly. "You fell prey to a classic blunder. You grew too enamored of your new power, and forgot the virtues of the old. By focusing your deflection field on your hands or feet you do gain impressive striking power, but you weaken your defenses elsewhere. And now, of course, you're in my grasp. You cannot 'squirt' away because your head is too large to fit between my hands. I'm not exerting enough force to trigger a reaction from your field. And since I haven't let you recover your breath from that nerve strike, the way you're batting feebly at my arms is more pathetic than anything else. And now you're dead," he added, twisting savagely once the bronze aura faded completely.


  Taograth's corpse fell to the shattered marble, the head at an angle no contortionist could achieve.


  Panting slightly from the exertion and trying to suppress an unseemly grin, Umbrae retrieved his suitcoat and pulled out the blackcel in one of the pockets. "Anatole? Questions Period went well, please send my condolences to Master Barrukh. I'm sure he'll be secretly relieved. Oh, and I think we actually need to care a little more about the identity of the old Anchor's killer. Please get on that. Extend that invitation we discussed, too. I think we might be able to flush a few more out before Marx's killer is found...."


  * * * *


  [March 26, 2026 - Falcon Bay, Venus]


  Kim Bell watched the sleek "flying saucer" take to the skies once more. Some of the wedding guests were going back to Earth, and a new batch of colonists had arrived. And, from the scuttlebutt she was hearing, some of the previously-evacuated Montrealers had come back. Word was that not everyone felt comfortable back on Earth. Maybe it was a fringe effect of the curse on the Viaus, maybe it was just psychological. A few more therapists were probably among the new arrivals, in any case.


  Cindy gurgled in her papoose on Kim's back. She was getting a little big for that, being about sixteen months old. Unfortunately, Kim still didn't have any good ideas for how to deal with the inevitable suggestions that she be put into the small daycare center in one of the protective bunkers. Once she was separated from Cindy, aka Innocenza the Anchor, heir to the Archangeli line...well, it wouldn't be pretty. Literally.


  "Miss Bell?" came a voice from behind. Kim turned, perhaps a little too quickly, to look. Cindy giggled.


  "Yes?" The woman had short dark hair with a red streak in it that suggested the whole affair was a dye job.


  "Is there somewhere private we can talk?" the woman asked in a way that set Kim's old Manhattan instincts on edge. Her posture said "cop". But if she were working for the government, and knew who Kim really was, she'd have brought backup. Unless the backup was hidden just out of sight.


  "Sure, follow me," Kim tried to sound calm but slightly befuddled, like she expected an innocent citizen would. Her workshop was private enough, and would give her the home field advantage if it came to that.


  After a short walk, they were in one of the prefab buildings that served as a repair-slash-fabrication shop for the new colony. Kim carefully stood where several lethal implements would be within arm's reach of her. "Okay, talk."


  The woman held out a small velvet box she'd palmed at some point. "My name's Jo Ridley." Opening the box, she showed the ring inside to Kim. "Ross misses you, and thinks you should come home."


  It was the ring Ross "Hooks" Hoekstra had given her when he'd asked her to marry him.


  Made with a diamond he'd taken from a case that had been handcuffed to him on one wild night in Manhattan two years ago.


  A night engineered with Kim's help by the man who then shot her and left her for dead.


  The man who had left her pregnant with his child.


  The man who had tempted a worthless stinking BUG with promises of beauty, who had helped her confirm that she'd sell out her best friends, that she was still the useless piece of shit-eating filth her father had always called her before...before he'd stopped.


  Rebus the Anchor, who stripped illusion and exposed reality, and who had stripped away the true reality of Gimble's existence for a night, replacing it with an illusion that Ross had fallen in love with.


  Kim Bell, known to most as Gimble, and born Macy Graves, sank to her knees and just couldn't stop crying.


  * * * *


  [June 13, 2026 - Manhattan Autonomous Sector]


  A year ago, even with its relatively insulated position on the extreme north side, the Cloisters Casino wouldn't have had enough business to really be considered "disrupted" by a crime scene investigation, Aaron reflected. Now, however, Umbrae's Manhattan had become something like pre-Castro Cuba...a cachet of danger and a whiff of illegality to bring in the well-heeled tourists. And a lot of those heels wanted to be planted in front of the tables of the Cloisters, or even just walk the attractive grounds of Fort Tryon Park, a piece of Manhattan that really didn't look like what people thought Manhattan was.


  "Ah, Detective Kelly," Aaron called out as he approached the police cordon on Park Drive. "Good to see a familiar face...I'd worried that the NYPD had reached one hundred percent turnover."


  John Kelly Jr. peered suspiciously at Aaron. "I'm afraid you have me at a disadvantage...Contact, right?" he gestured at the "dress uniform" Aaron was wearing. It was a little less conspicuous than his fighting togs, while still marking him pretty clearly as a member of ASH.


  -+Hey, dummy,+- Paul mentally bopped Aaron on the forehead. -+He's one of mine, remember?+-


  "Oh, sorry, Detective," Aaron willed himself to blush just the right amount. "We haven't met in this body. I have Paul Mahler's memories, it's kind of complicated. But I remember working with you on the Warden case a few years ago."


  "Right, I see," Kelly radiated a brief wave of "creeped out" that Aaron couldn't quite block out. "Is that the dodge you're using to get around the treaty, then?" he asked. "You're here as Mahler?"


  Aaron shook his head. "Actually, I already had permission to be on the island at MetaPsych for unrelated business, but they got a call from Mr. Mabuse officially requesting assistance on this case," he gestured at the taped-off stairway leading down into the offices of the casino. No need to mention that he hadn't been asked for by name, but it hadn't been hard to convince Mabuse to let him take the job. He owed Marx for stopping him from crossing all the way over the line a few years ago. [ASH #17 - Ed.] Least he could do was help find the person who'd finally managed to kill Marx when mad gods and supervillains had failed. "One thing Umbrae lacks is a reliable telepath, and the fact he actually wants one on the case suggests he's either innocent of this one, or playing an exceptionally complex game."


  "Fine. But stay back when I tell you to, and no mind-reading unless asked, got it?" Kelly frowned. Aaron caught a flash of a familiar face, Andrea Roguelin of MetaPsych. She'd taken over on the Warden case after Paul's death, and it was no secret that she and Kelly were a couple. Kelly was probably wondering why she hadn't been called in, but she'd clearly taught him enough about "leakage" that Aaron didn't have to wall himself off entirely to avoid getting more than that flash.


  "No worries. I'm no forensic pathologist or anything, and I have no intention of blundering in like a bull in a china shop and messing up the chain of evidence. Still, I'm pretty good at putting clues together, hopefully I can help beyond just playing lie detector," Aaron smiled. "So, what can you tell me so far?"


  "It's a messy hit," Kelly gestured for Aaron to duck under the police tape. "Some kind of bomb. Very compact, pretty clean, but leaving a faint radiation signature. Our preliminary guess is antimatter."


  Aaron arched an eyebrow as he stood up on the other side of the tape and followed Kelly down the stairs into the basement. "That sounds pretty exotic...I'd think it'd narrow the suspects list down a bit."


  "You might think that, yeah," Kelly led Aaron into the office section. "But between all the Pranir with contacts here and the fact that one of the Jolly Molecules...that's one of the local posergangs...has been making and selling antimatter mines, it's not really that hard to get your hands on antimatter in this town."


  Aaron nodded. The paragangs of the city came in two flavors. There were the deadly serious types like the Snow Leopards or the New York Macoute, ones that either grew out of existing normal gangs or that were founded by vicious killers. And then there were the posergangs, or thrillgangs, ones founded by paranorms or wannabes who were attracted by the social aspects. The Rust Brothers were probably the best-known posergang, with their bargain basement cybernetics and lame attempts to be like the Cybernostra, but there were plenty of others. And even posergangs could be dangerous...especially if they had people who could make antimatter!


  "Anyway, the mine was on the small side, so the room itself is structurally intact, and there was enough body left to make a positive ID. He might have stepped or sat on a small mine that couldn't take out his entire body," Kelly frowned. He was clearly sick and tired of finding out about new and bizarre ways you could kill someone. "It's also possible he was just farther from the mine and someone else set it off, with that someone else being totally discorporated. We'll know once we've finished analyzing the residue on the walls," he gestured at an open door, through which a scent of cooked meat and burned wood wafted. Inside, hazmat-suited technicians took samples and consulted handcomps.


  "Was the door closed when the explosion happened?" Aaron asked, noting its unusually thick construction.


  Kelly nodded. "If you're asking if this was a locked room murder, yes and no. The door was closed and locked, and the room itself is shielded from electromagnetics except for specific frequencies on scramble...he was pretty paranoid about electronic snooping. So no remote control. On the other hand, the killer probably didn't need one."


  Aaron furrowed his brow for a moment, then his face lit up in realization. "Right! Just create an antimatter bomb where the only thing that keeps the antimatter contained is a Violation effect. As soon as an Anchor gets close enough, a perfectly normal and natural explosion happens."


  "Exactly. Which makes the Jollies the most likely supplier. They're not on my list for people who might be behind the whole thing, but I've got people out looking for some Jollies to talk to about who might have bought from them," Kelly nodded. And by "people" he almost definitely meant that Umbrae's Hangmen enforcers were on the job. Normal cops rarely went to a paragang, even a posergang, and strongly requested their presence.


  "Who *is* on your list?" Aaron asked.


  Kelly sighed. "I don't have time to go through it all," he frowned, and Aaron nodded. A man like Devlin Marx had more enemies than friends, and even had enemies who could have pulled this off despite no longer being on this plane of existence. It would certainly fit Rebus's profile to have put some sort of long-term assassination plans in place just for the mental exercise. "However, I'm going to leave the diplomatic issues to Mabuse and concentrate on the locals who might have had the usual three...opportunity, means and motive."


  "In other words, people right here, to start with," a slender man limped up to the two. "Ben Whitman," he introduced himself, extending a hand to Aaron, who shook it. "I'm in the unfortunate position of inheriting most of this from Devlin."


  "Aaron Zander. Were you present at the blast?" Aaron asked, his eyes flicking down to the foot Whitman was favoring.


  "Nah, that's just his lead foot," Kelly shook his head. There didn't seem to be much love lost between the two men. "His mustering out present from the Jollies." [As seen in STRAFE #12 - Ed.]


  "Actually, the Detective is a bit behind on the news," Whitman grinned weakly. "I finally got a transplant, but I'm still building up the calluses. Rapid-grown clone tissue doesn't have any, after all. Anyway, I'm a suspect because I didn't get killed yet, and because I'm in charge of not just the Cloisters but also the rest of Marx's personal empire. And while it's a lot smaller than it might have been a few years ago, I'm not sure I'll ever know where it all is...he was burned pretty badly by his last protege, and he didn't tell *anyone* everything this time around. I kinda hope his will clears things up a little, but I doubt it."


  -+Given that Marx's previous protege was Rebus, understandable,+- Paul noted.


  "Jessa Dumont is another person I'd like to talk to," Kelly said, looking from Aaron to Ben and back. "It's been an open secret for a while now that he's been funnelling money into her chain of free clinics, and a less open secret that there's been other dealings between the two. All of which could either be a motive for murder, or a reason to expect to find her DNA in that mess," he jerked a thumb towards the open door. "Either way, she never reported to work this morning at any of the clinics, nor is she answering her public number."


  "She's not answering her blackcel either," Whitman shook his head, referring to the ultra-secure style of portable communications device often carried by those with reason to be paranoid. "I doubt she was caught in the explosion, though, if only because she *does* always carry her blackcel, and those things are pretty durable. This half of the Cloisters would be sliding down the cliffside before a blackcel would have been completely destroyed by an explosion. And they did find Devlin's 'cel, right?"


  Kelly didn't comment. "I can get you the rest of the list on your handcomp later," he said to Aaron. "I don't suppose you'd be willing to submit to telepathic reading, *Mister* Whitman?"


  "This is where I'd love to be able to say, 'Go ahead, I have nothing to hide,' Detective. But I've got plenty to hide, just not related to Devlin's death. I'd want some legal assurances that Mr. Zander wouldn't just go fishing around."


  Aaron nodded, pulling out his handcomp. "I'll beam you the standard paperwork MetaPsych's worked up for this sort of thing, you can have your lawyers look at it and we can schedule a time. If that's satisfactory, Detective?" he turned back to Kelly, who nodded. "Oh, and if you don't mind me asking, where did you get the cloned foot?"


  Whitman chuckled. "Wondering if I've been taking advantage of Jessa's old organlegger contacts, eh?"


  Aaron didn't say anything, but that was *exactly* what he'd been thinking. Or, perhaps, using one of the "squabs" that Khadam had been growing as sacrificial victims for Glyph's more potent magics. He'd heard that it had taken a dozen of those to power the spell that had hurled the future Santari ship's citykiller beam back upon itself. [Seen in ASH #82 - Ed.] And he knew that organleggers had taken to trying to clone Universal Donors as a way to get around the Santari problem of tissue rejection. Any of these options would have given a blackmailer leverage on Whitman.


  "In a way, I am," Whitman admitted. "But not in the bad way. It turns out that one of the Pranir biotech firms has decided that there's good PR value in being able to truthfully say they can provide 'cruelty free' transplants, so they've been working on the UD-cloning issue. But rather than steal samples, they're licensing genomes from Udes like me. In exchange to the non-exclusive right to use my Universal Donor genes in their research and market the results if they can get 'em to graft to a Santari, I got a new foot, and a few other considerations. Jessa's been working with these people as partial atonement for her own part in the organlegging industry."


  "Well, good for her," Kelly deadpanned. "You know the routine, Whitman. Don't leave town, make sure your lawyer registers at the precinct, don't annoy the Hangmen..."


  "I know," Whitman nodded, a bit sadly. "The usual drill. I may have been a crooked cop, but I wasn't an incompetent one."


  * * * *


  The Upper East Side had probably fallen the farthest during the "Decay NY" years, but only because it'd had the farthest to fall. When the people with money and means abandoned the city for a time, it tore the heart out of the "Silk Stocking District". Things were rapidly improving under Umbrae, with the retro cachet attracting the new elite, but parts of the neighborhood were still on the iffy side.


  Particularly, the side facing Central Park up in the 90s had yet to be fully reclaimed from the days when the park was paragang neutral ground, and a number of the weaker paragangs still hung out there, away from the hothouse conditions of the south end of the island but still far from the "tourist- friendly" north end. A lot of posturing and posing, but not a lot of real action.


  Hence, when the usual morning calm was interrupted by the roar of an Ihimaera Utilitarian and the sinister whine of a Magnum Spartan, people sat up and took notice.


  Maddie Chin, aka Hellhound, could live with that, as long as people didn't notice too much. Her Spartan was a whisper-silent electric fuel cell machine with a lot of aftermarket improvements, so as soon as the immediate ruckus was done with it would be nearly impossible for anyone to hear where she went over the echoing cacophony of her prey's "Ute".


  "I got an aluminum engine and carbonfibre frame, 'Hound!" the Jolly Molecule shouted. He probably did so only to hear his own voice, but the filters in Maddie's helmet let her pick him out over the noise of the Jolly's engine. "Magnetics won't work on me! And I've got eddy current suppressors built in too!"


  And if "Roger Boom" had been facing Beth Willot, the "EMerald" member of the Hellhound team, that might have made a difference. Beth's duties as a Marshal kept her from being as active as Hellhound lately, even though she was just across the river in Jersey City. But enough road ragers had paid attention while being thrashed that word had gotten out about Hellhound having magnetic powers. Leave it to the tech-pirate Jolly Molecules to do something about it.


  Maddie had no powers at all, but that didn't make her any less dangerous. In fact, today it probably made her more dangerous, since Roger clearly thought he had her number.


  Boom took a sharp right on 92nd, barely keeping his over-modified Ute from skidding, but the Spartan was made for maneuverability and Hellhound gained several meters on him as he fought to bring his beast under control.


  Now things got dangerous.


  Roger Boom, born Roger Langridge, was a gadget guy. No intrinsic powers like some of the other Jollies, but he could build supertech. And he liked to build weapons. MAN, did he like to build weapons. His prices were cheap because he really only needed enough money to let him build MORE weapons, and the next time a gang war erupted he'd probably be indirectly responsible for a third of the body count. So far, though, his only actual victims had been people showing up at one of Jessa's clinics with self-inflicted injuries, as Roger's gear was also cheap because he got sloppy a lot. So he'd never been all that high on the list Maddie, Jessa and Beth maintained of People Who Needed Taking Down.


  Roger Boom pulled out a small object and started to toss it over his shoulder. Maddie responded by pulling out a throwing coin and hurling it at Boom's wrist, making him drop the thing instead. She wasn't as good with the coins as Warden, but she'd practiced a lot. They were far from effective weapons for stopping a person unless you could amplify their pain response, but they were handy for disarming someone.


  The object fell to the pavement and exploded violently, shredding the rear of the Ute and throwing Roger Boom into the air at about fifty meters per second...not necessarily "terminal" velocity, but definitely lethal if he'd forgotten to build himself a forcefield or something along those lines.


  Hellhound spurred her Spartan on and managed to get under Boom in the second or so before his slightly angled course would smash him into the corner of a building. Flexing her right hand in her gauntlet, she triggered the compressed CO2 canister that launched a small pellet at the Jolly Molecule. It burst on impact, expanding into a ball of foam in less than an eyeblink. One of the nicer pieces of technology Marx had sent her way under the table...pure normaltech, developed back in the TwenCen.


  The foam ball bounced off a street post and rolled through an intersection, wobbling like a partially deflated rugby ball. The specs said the person encased in the stuff could still breathe, and it'd decay under ultraviolet light after an hour or so.


  Maddie shot out a grappling line which stabbed into the foam and locked, then started dragging Roger Boom's faintly protesting cocoon to the nearest precinct house.


  She wasn't sure why Marx had chosen today to strongly suggest Hellhound deal with Roger Boom, but Maddie figured that Jessa would probably know. The telepath hadn't answered her blackcel before Maddie went out, but that wasn't too unusual...the best communciations encryption in the world is useless if you use it where anyone can eavesdrop with a directional microphone or just good ears, and Maddie got Jessa's voice mail nine times out of ten. In fact, if Jessa was trying to call back it'd be phone tag, since Maddie had turned her own blackcel off to avoid distraction while rounding up the Jolly Molecule.


  A few minutes later, the paraganger dropped off on the steps of the new 84th Street precinct and tagged with the datacube of evidence Marx had sent, Maddie took her Spartan into one of the tunnels that let Hellhound seem to appear and disappear like magic.


  "Jimmy, you free to talk?" she said, her helmet's built-in blackcel automatically dialing her boyfriend and relaying the message once he picked up. The phrase meant she was calling on Hellhound business, and a reply of "Sure" meant he was somewhere that wasn't secure, so she should keep Hellhound out of the conversation, stick to boyfriend/girlfriend stuff.


  "Maddie, it's trouble," was the reply. Either Jimmy was in a secure location, or things were bad enough he didn't care.


  "What's up? I just dropped off the guy Marx sicced me on."


  "Marx is up. Or down. I mean, Devlin Marx has been murdered. And from what Beth has managed to feed my way while you were out playing tag with the Jollies, it looks like Jessa's either dead too, or a prime suspect."


  "Oh, shit," was all Maddie could think to say in response.


  =============================================================================


  Next Issue:


  Word starts to spread of the death of the old Anchor, and fingers are pointing in every conceivable direction, and a few that may have been inconceiveable! Be here for Kheper's Path II: Jaws of Apophis!


  =============================================================================


  Author's Notes:


  I'll explain the arc title at the end of the arc. :)


  The "wild night" referred to in the Kim Bell scene was Warden #13-14, the flow of the scene didn't feel right with an editor's footnote in it right there.


  Here's Hellhound at long last, riding her '26 Magnum Spartan: http://www.eyrie.org/~dvandom/ASH/gallery/hellhound.JPG The Spartan uses a Sbarro hubless wheel design, which makes it immune to "throw something in the wheel and make the bike flip" tricks, useful for someone planning on getting into fights.


  The Jolly Molecules were first mentioned in STRAFE #12, and this is the first time they got a named member. Marc Singer tells me that Jenny Hader (first seen in Warden #1) was intended to be a member, but it never got mentioned in a story. It's possible that the Jollies that Jenny belonged to collapsed when she left, being more poser-ish than most posergangs, but they reformed later on when the paraganger density started to ramp up again. In any case, their gang symbol is a skull and crossed electron orbitals, like mixing the Jolly Roger with the "atomic power" symbol.


  Finally, in case you missed the news, ASH now has a Fourth Heroic Age character wiki, http://ash.wikidot.com/main (with a few pre-FourthAge characters, a couple of places and things as well). It's pretty bare-bones, meant mainly to keep track of the basics and avoid needlessly making up new characters when there's existing ones that work fine (which, of course, is why I ended up making several new characters up for this arc anyway, sigh). But feel free to play around with it, at the least if you're wondering about a character you can find their first appearances and a few bits of info.


  ============================================================================


  For all the back issues, plus additional background information, art, and more, go to http://www.eyrie.org/~dvandom/ASH !


  To discuss this issue or any others, either just hit "followup" to this post, or check out our Yahoo discussion group, which can be found at http://groups.yahoo.com/group/ash_stories/ !


  There's also a LiveJournal interest group for ASH, check it out at http://www.livejournal.com/interests.bml?int=academy+of+super-heroes


  ============================================================================


  #90 - Kheper's Path II: Jaws of Apophis


  The cover shows an interrogation room, over the shoulder of the person being interrogated. Detective Kelly and Contact are angrily confronting the prisoner, who seems fairly impassive. However, on the back of his neck is a digital timer counting down....


  



  ACADEMY OF SUPER-HEROES ROLL CALL



  CODENAME / REAL NAME / POWERS / ASSIGNMENT


  Solar Max / Jonathan Zachary "JakZak" Taylor / Spacetime Control / AMERICA


  Meteor / Sarah Grant-Taylor / Superspeed / AMERICA


  Scorch / Scott Handleman / Pyrokinetic / CANADA


  Green Knight / Salvatore Napier / Strength, Regeneration / MEXICO


  Fury / Arin Kelsey / Concussion Blasts / MEXICO


  Contact / Aaron Zander / Psi, Mind-over-Body / DIPLOMATIC


  Breaker / Christina Li / Telekinesis / DIPLOMATIC


  Essay / Sara Ana Henderson / Gadgeteer /VENUS


  Peregryn / Howard Henderson Jr. / Elemental Mage / VENUS


  Beacon / George Sylvester / Living Light / VENUS


  Geode / Unknown / Living Crystal / VENUS


  Lightfoot / Tom Dodson / Velocity Control / TRANSIT


  ------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  [June 13, 2026 - Manhattan Autonomous Sector]


  Contact watched through the one-way glass as the deceptively frail- looking man talked to a nervous-looking paraganger. The paraganger was leaking random thoughts and worries in every direction, but his questioner might as well be an Anchor for all that Contact could pick up. The 'ganger's thoughts did confirm Contact's suspicions, though...the questioner was one of the notorious Hangmen.


  "So, what's the procedure here?" Contact turned to the other man in the observation room, Detective John Kelly Jr.


  "Once Umbrae's boy is done explaining to 'Roger Boom' there what the situation is and why he should try *very* hard to cooperate, we'll get our turn," the detective whispered. "Try to be quiet."


  "I am," Contact smiled. "You wouldn't even be able to hear me if I weren't using a few sending tricks. And you can talk quieter if you want, I don't need to read your mind, I can fine-tune my hearing to pick you up as long as you make any sound at all. Anyway, I couldn't help pick up Boom's mental screaming about Hellhound...what'd he do to get on her radar?"


  "Honestly? No idea," Kelly shrugged. "Normally, no one would pay attention to him. He's a para, so we poor normal schlubs in the NYPD try to stay out of his way while we deal with mundane criminals. The Hangmen police the paragangs, and they don't generally bother with penny-ante stuff. You cross the wrong line and you get disappeared to some vivisection lab in Khadam or whatever, but otherwise they leave the 'gangs alone. Looking at the datacube Hellhound left with Boom in there, while the guy's theoretically broken a lot of laws, it's nothing that'd get the Hangmen interested."


  "And Hellhound?"


  Kelly shook his head. "She's got her own set of lines, stuff the Hangmen don't bother with but that offend her sensibilities. She's either a telepath or has a specific 'find guilt' power, because everyone she's gone after has turned out to be guilty of something nasty...and even if we weren't allowed to ship 'em off to the Cavity, Hellhound usually managed to exact her own punishment, often poetic justice. Especially on the rapists," Kelly winceed a little at the thought of that.


  Contact nodded, recalling a bit of graffiti he'd seen on the way to the 84th Street precinct house where Boom was being questioned. It was an artist's conception of Hellhound, a pair of flaming...spheres...in her hand, with the legend, "NO MEANS NO!" "But Roger Langridge isn't a rapist."


  "No. The only way he'd be interested in a woman would be if she exploded."


  -+Too bad for him Arin's taken,+- Paul smirked in Aaron's mind.


  +-I don't think he's her type anyway,-+ Aaron replied to the "ghost" that lived on in his brain. "It begs the question, then," he said aloud, "why did Hellhound bring him in? And why just tag and bag him for the police instead of finding some poetic punishment? Did she know he was involved in the Marx killing?"


  Kelly nodded. "That's where the smart money is. Ah, looks like Umbrae's guy is done reading Boom the riot act," he gestured to the interrogation room, where the thin man was straightening his suit and motioning for the guard to open the door.


  Contact and the detective stood and headed for the hallway as well.


  "He's all yours, gentlemen," the Hangman smiled a thin smile. "He knows to cooperate fully, since Mr. Umbrae has asked that all reasonable help be given in the matter of this investigation. Feel free to leave him locked up for a few days after you question him, or fine him for some of the violations on the list our little vigilante provided, it might do him some good."


  It didn't take telepathy to tell that Detective Kelly was biting back a sarcastic reply. All he said, though, was, "The Department is grateful for your support in this matter."


  The Hangman's smile increased a fraction, he mimed tipping a hat, and then walked past them on his way to the exit.


  "So, Roger, ready to play ball?" Kelly asked as he led the way into the interrogation room.


  "Yes, sir, mister police officer sir," the Jolly Molecule tried to put on a facade of arrogant sarcasm, but he was still too shaken by the Hangman for it to be even remotely convincing.


  "Right now, we've got you on a lot of little things, and even have permission to prosecute you on a few of them, but the main issue is whether you're an accessory to murder one," Kelly explained, sitting down across from Roger Boom. Aaron remained standing behind the detective. "You cooperate, and we don't find any other evidence suggesting you knew what was going to happen, and the charge doesn't happen. If I think you're holding back, though, I'll just have to ask the Hangmen to dig deeper on my behalf. I even hear that some of Doctor Sheng's test subjects survive these days."


  "Yeahyeahyeah, I got it, sheesh!" Boom shuddered. "So, I'm guessin' y' want me ta peach the armordude, right?"


  "For now, yes," Kelly nodded. "All the other sales you could remember were to people we can check into."


  In fact, the thin Hangman was likely doing that right now, Aaron reflected.


  "Well, lemme tell ya, that was the ginchiest power armor I've rezzed in a long time," Roger smiled, letting his tech-geekdom come to the fore.


  "Ginchiest?" Aaron furrowed his brow.


  Kelly shrugged. "One of the Jollies has a pirate broadcast going, too low power for the three-cee," the Combine Communications Commission, "to get involved. He found a stash of old sitcoms and has been running them in holographic upconversions."


  "Telly's got plans ta use vactors ta mix and match, too! I can't wait ta see the Beav on Gilligan's Island!" Roger Boom enthused.


  "Back on the topic," Kelly sighed. "Aside from being 'ginchy', what can you tell us about the armored buyer?"


  "Totally vodered vox, kept the faceplate down, no clue who or even what was inside. Paid in Santari chipware, just wanted two antimatter booms. Said if the first one didn't work, I'd find the second one rammed up me sideways and percussion-detonated like a cherry bomb in a frog," Roger explained, nervously. "Didn't say nothin' about peachin' him, though, so I guess I'm okay if'n that one did make with the big boom."


  "He being straight with us, Contact?" Kelly asked over his shoulder.


  "Yep. Lovely mental image with the frog, by the way. One of your more cherished memories, I notice," Aaron smirked.


  "Wait, he's a teep?" Roger started to panic.


  "Relax, I'm just scanning surface thoughts and making sure you're not lying," Aaron replied. "And I got a very clear mental image of that 'ginchy' armor from you, thanks for being so tech-obsessed."


  A few minutes later, with Roger escorted to a holding cell, Kelly asked Aaron, "Well?"


  "Looks like this particular chain of evidence runs over your pay grade, Detective Kelly," Aaron shrugged. "The armor worn by our mystery buyer is of Santari make, a kind of advanced suit that's not even legal to sell to Interdicted planets like Earth."


  "So, we have an interstellar criminal here? Yeah, that's above my pay grade all right," Kelly sighed.


  "Not necessarily interstellar. I know of one organization on Earth that owns a number of these suits, but I'm afraid even knowing why I think they're possible suspects is information you might be happier not knowing."


  "Fine, don't tell me, you're probably right. We'll keep following what's left over here, and I think I'm going to put a few more men on the Hellhound case...the fact she knew to bring Boom in suggests she knows something about the Marx case. What about you?"


  "I need to start the bureaucratic wheels turning so I can go talk to that organization, but I'll be in touch," Aaron shrugged. "Something tells me that things are going to get murkier before they get clearer, though."


  "Unless they're clear from the outset, that's usually how it works, kid, darkest before the dawn and all that," Detective Kelly smirked. "Except that they don't always get any clearer. Sometimes the giant critter of your choice eats the Sun."


  Aaron winced. Given that he'd been staying at the World Trade Center, the complex that had once been Odin's worldly seat of power, the Fenris imagery wasn't really something he needed.


  -+Remember, the Egyptians have a Sun-eating monster too,+- Paul pointed out. -+The snake, Apophis. Doubly troubling given where that armor seems lead.+-


  Aaron mentally nodded. +-To the only person we know for sure has access to advanced Santari bodyguard armor, one of the last remaining politically powerful followers of the Egyptian gods...the ex-Conclaver known to a very few as Light-Over-Egypt, but to the entire world as Pope Paul VII.-+


  * * * *


  [May 12, 2026 - Between Venus and Earth]


  Given how little she'd socialized, "Kim Bell" was a bit surprised at how many people seemed sorry to see her go. Granted, some of that was probably just the fact that they'd miss her technical expertise...even with her superhuman gadgeteering skills constantly suppressed by the presence of her Anchor daughter, Kim's years of experience as an underground "fixer" in Manhattan had taught her how to squeeze the most use out of the least possible resources.


  But even leaving aside the ones who'd miss her for selfish reasons, it seemed like an awful lot of people were genuinely sorry to see her go.


  "That section is restricted, miss," a man in red and white body armor held up an interposing hand, startling her out of her reverie.


  "Oh, sorry...I was just sightseeing," she stammered, and little Cindy babbled something in "babytalk" that indicated she'd picked up on the change in her mother's mood.


  The Galactic Warrior guard, probably a Santari, chuckled. "Not a lot to see here. You've seen one bulk transport, you've seen...oh, but I guess you've never even seen one before have you?" He had that tone of a city boy talking to the hick tourist that Kim knew well. She'd even used it herself on occasion, even if Manhattan hadn't ever really counted as a "big city" during her lifetime. "Anyway, this section is holding prisoners, please head back to your cabin."


  Kim nodded. The ship had been sent to pick up the remnants of some Santari warship...something had happened last week, but neither she nor Jo Ridley had been able to find out much. [They're the stranded future Santari last seen in ASH #83 when the giant magma lion Infernion destroyed their ships - Ed.]


  As a side effect, since the ship the Corps sent was pretty big, there was spare room to let the owners of the commandeered transport pick up some cash on the side by shuttling most of the remaining "uncolonists" from Falcon Bay back to Earth. Of more importance to Kim and Jo, since it wasn't a shuttle run by Lightfoot of ASH, the odds of anyone recognizing Jo from her experience as a brainwashed tool of Rebus [as seen in ASH #21-23 - Ed.] were greatly reduced.


  "This porkat of a civvie ship is pretty slow outside hyper," the Corpsman shrugged, "but we should be able to get you people onto re-entry shuttles in about," he seemed to be consulting a display inside his helmet, "fifty minutes, your time. On the good side, being a porkat means you don't have to worry about any sudden deceleration when we hit orbit, even if the compensators aren't up to standard."


  "Thank you, sir," Kim nodded, then headed back the way she'd come. Too bad she didn't have longer, and access to the engine room...a place like this would have lots of interesting ideas for her to play with once she resumed the curse of her powers, something she knew she'd have to do as part of the price for Jo Ridley's...and Devlin Marx's...help.


  * * * *


  [June 15, 2026 - Manhattan Autonomous Sector]


  "A good Monday morning to you, Detective Kelly," Aaron nodded as he stepped into the doorway of the man's office. "I said I'd be in touch."


  "Aren't you supposed to be flying off somewhere to check on that armor lead?" Kelly looked up from his computer, scowling slightly.


  Aaron shrugged. "Diplomatic red tape. Hope to get out there by the end of this week, though."


  "Ah, need to get your credentials?"


  "Nope," the telepath shook his head. "Tina...Breaker...and I both already have full diplomatic status. Officially, we're 'Cultural Attaches' attached to no fixed embassy."


  Kelly chuckled. "Someone's been reading too many TwenCen spy novels. The KGB agents were always listed as 'Cultural Attaches' to give 'em some inconvenient-to-the-hero diplomatic immunity. So, what *is* the hold-up?"


  "The nation in question has reason to not trust Combine superhumans," Aaron admitted. After STRAFE's running battle with Aegis and the Helvetican Guard in the streets of the Vatican two years ago [STRAFE #15 - Ed.], the Vatican wasn't happy to have any outside superhuman assets walking around. "And there's some fallout from Chancellor Radner's re-emergence that's got their diplomatic section in a bit of an uproar, so I'm not exactly on the top of their to-do list." Specifically, finding that Aegis had re-emerged at Radner's side had been an unpleasant surprise, since he nominally led the men who wore the Santari-made Helvetican Guard armor, and had generally helped the Vatican keep outside supernormals at arm's length for the past few years.


  "And I take it from the way you're mincing around the issue that I'd *still* be a lot happier not knowing exactly which nation is in question," Kelly nodded.


  "Precisely. While I'm cooling my heels, though, is there anything you can share with me that might knock some ideas loose?" Aaron asked.


  Kelly tapped his computer screen, but didn't turn it to show Aaron. "Preliminary autopsy's in on the residue and the partial corpse. It was definitely Marx's body, not a body double or shapeshifter. We were able to get his sealed medical records and run a genetic match. None of the other DNA found in the room rises above the levels you'd get from someone who'd been in the room recently."


  "In other words, Jessa Dumont either wasn't in the room, or was vaporized with improbably high efficiency," Aaron concluded.


  "Yep."


  "Any chance the body was a clone? We know that Radner managed to somehow fake the death of EUROPA's Pollux by swapping in a cloned corpse," Aaron asked.


  Kelly shook his head. "Unlikely. I don't know about the Pollux situation, but our new lab boys were brought in by Umbrae, and they've got access to the latest Khadamite tech in that regard. There's ways to tell a clone from the original, apparently, and as an Anchor Marx wouldn't be susceptible to things like outright magical copying." There were a number of superhumans who could at least make temporary copies of things, but as far as Aaron knew they were all accounted for and on the side of the angels. "Besides, it looks like cloning wouldn't have helped Marx anyway."


  "Oh?"


  "One of the things we got from his sealed files...and understand that this bit of info is still being held secret, just in case," Kelly explained. "Marx had a genetic condition called DeMarco's Syndrome. I'd never heard of it, but the docs say it was only named in 2009. There haven't been enough victims to get a good read on what triggers it, but once the genes go active you're pretty much doomed. System-wide genetic mis-coding, leading to a rather painful and lingering death within a year. No cure's been found via normal science, and the new crop of super-geniuses hasn't gotten around to looking at it yet. It looks like Marx's DeMarco had gone active a few months ago."


  "So, we can't rule out suicide at this point, then," Aaron narrowed his eyes.


  "Well, yes and no. It's possible he arranged this to give himself a painless death and get everyone running around on his behalf, but he had to have had an accomplice. He couldn't have safely handled the antimatter mine that Roger Boom made, assuming that really was the thing that killed him. And since New York never passed an assisted suicide law, we've still got at the least an *accomplice* to murder out there somewhere, if not an actual murderer. So it's still a criminal investigation even if we decide it was suicide. Especially since this was such a dramatic means of death that even if a judge accepted a plea of assisted suicide, there's reckless endangerment to boot," Kelly explained. "On the other hand, Marx may simply have gotten reckless with death looming, and he pushed one of his many enemies too far. Even with someone with Marx's reputation, it's best to look for the simple explanations first."


  "Once the impossible has been eliminated, whatever remains, however improbable, must be the truth," Aaron quoted.


  -+Actually, it's '...when you have excluded the impossible, whatever remains, however improbable, must be the truth.'+- Paul corrected Aaron.


  +-Close enough,-+ Aaron thought back to himself.


  "That works in the books, Mr. Zander, but in homicide cases I've found that almost all the time it's the probable and obvious that's right. Even notoriously devious people like Marx are still human."


  Unspoken was the caveat, "But not everyone involved in this case is necessarily human...."


  * * * *


  [June 15, 2026 - Jersey City, New Jersey Sector]


  "Isn't it a little early for you boys to be up?" Marshal Beth Willot smirked behind her helmet as she created a focused electromagnetic pulse to scramble the poorly shielded cybernetics of the trio of Rust Brothers. "Why, it's only noon!"


  Two of them made no response, as their voices were purely synthesized, and the pulse had scrambled those systems. Fortunately for them, none had any vital organs replaced by cybernetics...even the disreputable bodmod shops that catered to the wannabes in this paragang had limits. An arm or a leg, sure. Replace the voicebox with a voxbox that could literally turn someone into a human beatbox? Not a problem. But they tended to shy away from any mods that would leave their clients dead in the event of failure. Oh, it wasn't really ethics...just economics. A living Rust Brother was a potential upgrade customer, a dead one wasn't.


  "Reduce the levels on your hostility mix, Jane Law," the third one grunted as he fiddled with the settings on his cybernetic arm using his remaining organic one. "I an' mine weren't lookin' t'mosh."


  "Maybe not, Grindcore Joe, but you've got a few outstandings for drunk and disorderly, and with things unsettled across the bridge," Beth nodded in the direction of Manhattan, "word's come down to haul in anyone on the list, on general principles. And they'll probably want to ask you some questions and inspect your cybers for illegal mods, but you'll probably be back on the street for the weekend's parties."


  Joe frowned, but Beth knew he was smart enough not to argue. The plus side of being based in Jersey was that Umbrae tended not to try to run your life as much as he did for the Manhattan-based paragangs. The minus side was that you were under full Combine law...and if you acted up too much they could call in enough Marshals to totally ruin your party. You wouldn't end up dead, like if you crossed the Hangmen, but you could end up stripped of mods and dumped out with crappy TwenCen prosthetics. To CyberNostra wannabes like the Rust Brothers, that was almost worse than death.


  "Say, didn't your circle have a couple more in it? Or are they still sleeping off the weekend?" Beth asked, calling up some rap sheets on her helmet display.


  "Ah, those two went retro and joined some new circle gettin' set up on the South Jersey Shore. Some kinda godtimer cover act," Grindcore shrugged, finally getting his cyber arm to work well enough to accomplish that much.


  "Fine," Beth nodded. "Be sure to tell the nice men back at the precinct what you know about that cover act." She didn't really like the idea of even a posergang branching out down the coast, but it was out of her jurisdiction.


  Of course, Manhattan was out of her jurisdiction too, but that didn't stop her from sneaking over there every so often to give Maddie and Jessa a hand as part of the Hellhound collective. Now that she wasn't a student anymore it was harder to find the time, for all that she was stationed just over the river instead of based in Wisconsin Sector. Her family home on the island had given her an excuse to come visit over the various breaks and holidays, but Marshals didn't get week-long vacations, nor were they welcome into the Autonomous Sector even when off-duty.


  As she led the grumbling but unresisting cyborg trio into the waiting van, she spared a thought for Jessa. None of the ways Beth had for contacting the telepath had panned out, and she was just as in the dark about Dumont's whereabouts as the NYPD was. She was confident that Jessa wasn't the one who killed Marx, but on the other hand she knew that Jessa was a much bigger target than anyone in the official law enforcement establishment suspected. And Beth herself was almost as big a target, depending on who was doing the shooting....


  * * * *


  [June 17, 2026 - Detroit, Michigan Sector]


  Fifty years ago, Detroit had had a really bad reputation. Not only had it spent several years as a hub of supervillain activity, but among regular people it had the dubious honor of being considered the murder capital of the United States. Rightly or wrongly, in the 1970s people just didn't want to go to Detroit.


  +-I really don't want to be here,-+ Aaron thought as he looked around the office of Magnum Industries in downtown Detroit. It was really just a "for tax purposes" sort of office, with just a receptionist and a part-time sales rep, who had the day off. Magnum had factories in Detroit as well, but the main corporate offices were in Indianapolis.


  -+Yeah. Odd, isn't it?+- Paul replied. -+I mean, this goes beyond the usual 'This town sucks' sort of thing, doesn't it? And considering we came here from MANHATTAN, which on paper sucks a LOT harder than Detroit, it makes me wonder.+-


  Aaron leaned over and caught the receptionist's eye. "Any progress?"


  The receptionist smiled with his most professional smile and shook his head. "Still waiting on Doctor McKay. He needs to shut down an experiment safely before he can come to the videophone."


  "Fine, fine...say, what do you think of Detroit?" he asked.


  The smile didn't falter. "Oh, it's rough around the edges, but I've lived here my entire life, and it's no worse than any other big city in the Combine. In fact, it's a little quieter than most. I guess some of that is because we don't get a lot of people moving in, so we've gotten to be more like a small town...everyone's gotten to know most everyone else by now, or at least knows what to expect from people they haven't met."


  "No...sense of dread and doom?" Aaron pushed the matter.


  "Only around tax time, like everyone else," was followed by a professional chuckle.


  Aaron nodded and stepped back, pretending to examine one of the art prints on the wall.


  -+It's not a psionic effect, as far as I can tell,+- Paul concluded. -+No rogue telepath is consciously or unconsciously broadcasting 'go away' vibes. And this guy's not lying, even if he's as insincere as they come in general. He really doesn't have any problem living here, other than the music scene being a bit weak.+-


  +-Well, unless it has a direct bearing on the Marx case, I guess for now it's somebody else's problem,-+ Aaron mentally shrugged. [Curious? Check out The Reverse Engineers #2! - Ed.]


  "Doctor McKay will speak to you now," the receptionist turned an emitter so that a free-standing holographic screen sat over the top of the "Receptionist's Wall" around the desk.


  -+Impressive tech for a branch office,+- Paul noted.


  "Ah, hello...Contact? Or should I call you Mr. Zander?" Doctor McKay asked, a bit tentatively. He had that air of a lifelong lab geek thrust into upper management and not quite sure how he was supposed to do the job.


  "Either is fine, Doctor McKay. I was actually hoping to meet you in person, but your receptionist tells me that you're currently working on a project that requires your physical isolation," Aaron managed to keep the suspicious tone out of his voice. It was far more likely that McKay simply didn't want to be in the same room as a telepath. Even if the man had access to effective psi dampers, he might have realized that telepaths have so much more experience linking the thoughts of people to their expressions that they become quite good at reading people the non-powered way. And by limiting the interaction to just a floating head (which could even be computer generated) it concealed a lot of those cues.


  "Yes, I apologize, Contact. I've been dabbling in some biotech, and I'm afraid my own biometric readings need to remain within certain bounds during the time the experiment is running, or I'll have...well, I don't suppose you really care about the details. What *do* you care about?" he asked, his expression so carefully neutral that Aaron was growing convinced it was a computer generated face. Maybe even a fake voice too. No one had *that* blank of a stare naturally, right?


  "I'm chasing down some odds and ends about Devlin Marx while I wait on a lead to develop," Aaron explained. "And one of them was his connection to Magnum Industries. Back in the 1990s, Marx made his bankroll working for Magnum, and when it collapsed in 1998 he founded Marx Industries from the wreckage. But a little digging revealed that he re-founded Magnum via several shell companies in 2015 and used it as a bolthole for resources, resources that he used to rebuild after Lorenzo Archangeli wiped out the rest of Marx's fortune. It took some significant digging by a friend who's very good with computers, but the trail finally led to you as the one who did the spadework of setting up the new Magnum Industries. It is, in fact, one of the major industrial employers of Detroit right now, and while you're not officially on the board of directors, the company does seem to answer to you as Marx's proxy."


  "And this is a motive for murder?" McKay asked, looking vaguely offended. "If your friend did his research correctly, he'd have found that while I may have a checkered past, I do not kill."


  "No, I don't think you do...Doctor Developer," Aaron arched an eyebrow. "But you do seem a little defensive, yes? Still, I do have a few questions or requests regarding matters you may be able to help with."


  "Ask away."


  "First, I'd like permission to set our forensic data analysts loose on Magnum's books. Since Detroit is still a Contract Town for some reason, it's a lot easier if you say yes."


  "I'll have my lawyers look into it, but I don't see any reason why I wouldn't say yes. Next?"


  "In the documents that *are* in the public record, I saw that some of Magnum's industrial processes involve violation physics. But there's no public record of any employees who could implement those processes, at least not until fairly recently, when you accepted a pair of Academy graduates from our techie track. While we have a very likely suspect for the creation of the supertech murder weapon, I want to be able to rule out anyone at this end. Could you arrange for your other paranormal employees to be interviewed?"


  McKay shrugged. "They're currently a bit busy with a bit of troubleshooting, but I'll see when they can fit it in. For the most part they're too busy here in Detroit to engage in any, ah, extracurricular activities. In fact, the last time they even left town for any significant amount of time was when they spent New Year's in Milwaukee. Heh, and Moira says *I* need to get out of the lab more."


  "Thank you for any assistance you can render, Doctor McKay," Aaron nodded.


  "It probably won't be much," the gray-haired man warned. "Marx was very careful with his secrets...a lot of them never left his own head, and even there he probably didn't sleep easy all the time. Sometimes two men can keep a secret only if *both* of them are dead," he twisted the aphorism. "Although," his face took on a thoughtful cast, "it's too bad you weren't on the scene at the time of death."


  "Oh? Why is that? Other than the obvious, that I might have prevented it."


  "You might have been able to read his mind, Mr. Zander."


  "There's some Anchors I could do that to, Doctor McKay, but Devlin Marx could keep me out while in a coma," Aaron assured him.


  The long-reformed supervillain shook his head. "I've been studying Violation Physics for literally longer than you've been drawing breath, mainly looking for loopholes and ways I could exploit it despite my handicap of being a 'normal,'" he grinned wryly, as if the idea of being considered normal in any way was a private joke. "As near as I can tell, Anchors follow the same rules for the spirit/body duality and mind/spirit duality as everyone else. But their Anchor effect is tied to the spirit, *not* the mind. And it's possible to telepathically examine the mind after the spirit has departed, at least until the patterns start to decay, yes?"


  -+He's got us there,+- Paul noted. His own spirit had already been devoured by the Arcanovore before Aaron had done a full copy of his mind. [As seen in ASH #9, although Aaron didn't realize the spirit had been devoured until ASH #16. - Ed.]


  "Unfortunately, by this point, information entropy alone would have scrambled everything, even if the physical matter of the brain had been prevented from decaying," McKay seemed faintly disappointed on a clinical level.


  "Hm, I think you may have helped me more than you expected to, Doctor McKay," Aaron deliberately duplicated the other man's earlier thoughtful expression. "My people will be in touch about the records searches, though, Marx may have deliberately left some information hidden in plain sight to be found in the event of his death."


  "Certainly," McKay nodded. "Do you need anything else?"


  "Not at the moment," he shook his head. "But your receptionist gave me an email address I can use if I have any other questions."


  "Good, good. Now, if you'll excuse me, I should probably check in on my, ah, experiment. Good day, Mr. Zander?"


  "Good day."


  An hour later, back at the hotel room, Aaron finished the last of the electronic paperwork needed for authorization of the data forensics. McKay's lawyer had replied promptly and in the affirmative.


  -+So. Are you thinking what I'm thinking?+- Paul asked.


  +-I think so, Brain, but where are we going to get a rubber chicken the size of Tokyo Tower?-+


  Aaron's head jerked to the side as Paul briefly appropriated enough muscle control to simulate a smack upside the head.


  +-Yeah, yeah. I think we need to ask the autopsy crew some new questions, in light of what McKay brought up. Not to mention...oops, there goes the handcomp.-+


  Aaron picked up the small device and checked the flatscreen, not bothering to engage the battery-sucking holographic emitters.


  +-Looks like our ticket to the Vatican just got punched. I'll send off those questions to New York, then we can get packed.-+


  -+What does one wear for an audience with the Pope, anyway?+-


  ============================================================================


  Next Issue:


  Contact travels to the Holy See and confronts one of the most powerful men in the world! Gimble takes a journey into the darkest time of her life! Things come to light in the darkness in Kheper's Path III: Crossing Midnight!


  ============================================================================


  Author's Notes:


  It's worth taking a moment to clarify some of the distinctions between the types of paragangs. While it's never been fully established how paragangs got their start, it's fairly safe to assume that the first ones were in it for the "normal" reasons one forms a gang. With much of the population gone from Manhattan, there was plenty of space for squatters to move in, and that sort of populace lends itself to extragovernmental hierarchies...aka gangs.


  Either paranormals emerged from existing gangs or paranormals showed up and drew people to them from the gangs. But these were essentially criminal organizations, engaged in the usual rackets, plus organlegging and worse (The Oblivious were big into organlegging).


  By the time Warden woke up in 2022, however, paragangs had started to generate a mystique of sorts. Gangs with purely or at least majority paranormal membership existed by 2022, helped along by the fact that some of the superhumans were "created" beings (like Bathory's animalistic minions or the "remade men" of the CyberNostra). And this drew rebellious powered teens from around the Combine, who largely played at being paragangers. These are the posergangs and thrillgangs, of which the Rust Brothers and Cyanide Blues were early examples.


  A posergang is really just in it for the style points. Being a paraganger is cool, a sort of semi-manufactured rebellion for the paranormal set. Posergangs generally survive by not pissing anyone off enough to be worth the effort to crush, but the more hardcore members often get recruited away by the real paragangs. Posergangs often attract members purely because they're seen as a safe "learning experience" for people looking to become real paragangers, although dedicated members of groups like the Rust Brothers aren't too keen on their role as farm teams.


  Thrillgangs are a bit more dangerous, as they're composed of people who are in it for the chance to do illegal stuff. They may not be cold-blooded killers, but they're looking to hurt people, or at least Tamper In God's Domain a bit. Most thrillgangs either get serious (like the Cyanide Blues did), get crushed, or find some niche that lets them avoid "growing up" yet keeps them from being someone worth the effort to kill off. The Jolly Molecules, who are really just interested in weird science, are one of the few thrillgangs with any longevity, although they tend to be seen as the equivalent of the geek fraternity house. The real paragangs may sneer at the Jollies or even push 'em around some, but no one really wants to give up the shot at getting the toys that the Jolly Molecules come up with, and the Jollies have at least enough sense to not push things far enough to be seen as a true threat. True threats have to become real paragangs or they die fast. Or both.


  The Vogue Ghoul scene hasn't been much explored, but the general impression given by their few mentions is that the vast majority of Eurasian Vogue Ghoul gangs are posergangs, with a few thrillgangs. On the other hand, while typically seen as growing out of the Vogue Ghoul phenomenon, the Otakuza have become something beyond the normal ideas of paragangs, and for all their silly trappings they're taken quite seriously. Just as a few of the more serious Manhattan paragangs have turned into something of a governmental force, the Otakuza are rising into a similar role in Japan, if only because they're the best-equipped to deal with supernatural menaces.


  ============================================================================


  For all the back issues, plus additional background information, art, and more, go to http://www.eyrie.org/~dvandom/ASH !


  To discuss this issue or any others, either just hit "followup" to this post, or check out our Yahoo discussion group, which can be found at http://groups.yahoo.com/group/ash_stories/ !


  There's also a LiveJournal interest group for ASH, check it out at http://www.livejournal.com/interests.bml?int=academy+of+super-heroes


  ============================================================================


  #91 - Kheper's Path III: Crossing Midnight


  The cover shows Contact staring up at a symbolically gigantic and shadow-draped Pope, with a slender sliver of moonlight over the Pope's shoulder fragmented into numerous colors by a stained glass window.


  



  ACADEMY OF SUPER-HEROES ROLL CALL



  CODENAME / REAL NAME / POWERS / ASSIGNMENT


  Solar Max / Jonathan Zachary "JakZak" Taylor / Spacetime Control / AMERICA


  Meteor / Sarah Grant-Taylor / Superspeed / AMERICA


  Scorch / Scott Handleman / Pyrokinetic / CANADA


  Green Knight / Salvatore Napier / Strength, Regeneration / MEXICO


  Fury / Arin Kelsey / Concussion Blasts / MEXICO


  Contact / Aaron Zander / Psi, Mind-over-Body / DIPLOMATIC


  Breaker / Christina Li / Telekinesis / DIPLOMATIC


  Essay / Sara Ana Henderson / Gadgeteer /VENUS


  Peregryn / Howard Henderson Jr. / Elemental Mage / VENUS


  Beacon / George Sylvester / Living Light / VENUS


  Geode / Unknown / Living Crystal / VENUS


  Lightfoot / Tom Dodson / Velocity Control / TRANSIT


  ------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  [June 18, 2026 - Vatican City]



  "Thank you for agreeing to see me, your Holiness," Aaron Zander said as he entered the small room deep in the Vatican's sub-basement complex. It looked like it had been designed as someone's office, the only concession to its location being a tasteful plaque on one wall with the Papal Seal. But as soon as the door closed he could *feel* the silence descend on him in a way that had nothing to do with Pope Paul VII's minor Anchor talent.


  The room was clearly soundproofed.


  "Please, sit," the Pope motioned to the only other chair in the room. There was also a low bench, apparently meant for kneeling, and Aaron could make out a seam on the wall where a privacy screen might extend.


  "Should I lead off by saying how long it's been since my last confession?" Aaron smirked slightly as he took the offered chair.


  "Ha, perceptive of you, young man. This is indeed a confessional. What it lacks in the artistic stylings of those in the cathedral above," his head jerked upwards slightly, "it more than makes up for in privacy. Certain politically and economically powerful people have more need than most to unburden their souls to God, but don't dare do so where any might be listening."


  "Which is why we're meeting here, and not in an audience chamber," Aaron nodded.


  "Indeed. My audience chamber is reasonably secure, but it would be difficult to be certain no one from the Church would be able to overhear," his tone darkened slightly. The Pope led a double life, not only leader of the Catholic Church but also one of the few surviving members of the old Anchorite Conclave, a group led at one point by the recently deceased Devlin Marx. And certain aspects of his membership in the Conclave would sit very poorly with the Church hierarchy...such as the fact he worshipped pagan gods. No amount of syncretic circumlocution would save his position if that point came to light, and knowledge of it had given Aaron the leverage needed to get this meeting.


  "I'll get straight to the point," Contact said, "since I'm sure you're quite busy and would rather not dwell too much on this issue. In my investigation of the death of Devlin Marx, I found that someone involved in the matter wore a suit of Santari bodyguard armor, the same model as your Helvetican Guard wears. A model that is, strictly speaking, illegal for sale on Earth, meaning that it takes more than just money to get it."


  The Pope considered this for a moment. "No, you don't think I had a hand in this, do you. But perhaps I know who did, yes?" His previously very faint Italian accent started to strengthen. "I can perform some discreet inquiries regarding the status of the suits owned by the Holy See, of course, but assuming the armor was sighted in Manhattan...well, it would be difficult for one of the Helveticans to 'go off the reservation' as you Americans put it, for long enough to cross the ocean. Even using a suit that was officially offline for maintenance," he added, as if struck by a sudden inspiration.


  -+Does something strike you as odd here?+- Paul asked, his voice distant and a little flat, the way it got when Aaron was in the presence of an Anchor. The memories and much of the personality were a "natural" part of Aaron now, a sort of high-functioning neurosis, but without his own telepathic talent at full capacity, the psychic "ghost" tended to feel more like Aaron just talking to himself.


  +-Like what?-+ Aaron thought back, the exchange taking place more quickly than verbal communication could. Aloud, he noted, "Whoever acquired the suit may have used the same seller the Holy See did. Plus, of course, even if you can't help me on this particular lead, you're in a good position to know who might want Marx dead and have the resources to accomplish this."


  -+He looks like you used to whenever you were talking to me, before you learned to hide it. Like he's in telepathic contact with someone else, although even an Anchor as weak as he is couldn't be in psi link without the signal being so powerful we'd be hearing it too.+-


  Paul VII chuckled darkly. "Archangeli simplified that matter considerably for you, my son. I doubt there is anyone left alive from the old Conclave that could accomplish this...aside from myself, of course. And I do suppose I might have a motive to kill Marx, if I thought he was about to reveal my secrets. But, as your presence shows, my secrets are less tightly held than they once might have been, so killing Marx wouldn't have helped me in the least. Even the fact that someone *else* killed him has led you to my door and threatens my position. Perhaps someone else wished to set numerous pins tumbling with a single blow, killing the Eye of Horus in such a way as to cast unfavorable light upon me? The recently re-emerged Triton would certainly be inclined to that sort of convoluted plan."


  +-He's wearing a wire, maybe?-+ Aaron thought to Paul while part of his mind paid attention to the Pope's words.


  -+Seems likely. He might not want just anyone in the Church listening in on this conversation, but he's bound to have one or two Conclave sympathizers in the ranks for support.+-


  While his powers were blunted by the Pope's Anchor ability, Aaron was still able to use them on himself, and started adjusting his own hearing, filtering things a normal person could hear into one part of his mind while cranking up the gain and focusing in on the vicinity of the Pope's ears. Over the expected sound of pumping blood and echoing ambient sound, Aaron picked up a second voice.


  "...in fact, Triton's probably engaged in a campaign against you! Subverting Aegis, framing you for murder...."


  "In fact," the Pope said a heartbeat later, "I wouldn't be surprised if this is tied in with the fact that my agent Aegis seems to have switched his loyalties to Khadam. You may wish to investigate the possibility that Chancellor Radner has embarked on some complex plan to bring down the Vatican. That...does something trouble you, my son?"


  -+Damn *straight* it's troubling me. You know that voice on the other end of the earpiece. We both do, even through the masking and pitch shift.+-


  +-So much for my vaunted poker face, though. How do we play this? Preferably without either getting killed or starting another international incident?-+ Aaron asked his other side.


  -+Dissemble for now.+-


  +-Right, I've got an idea.-+


  "I was just thinking...I can tell this room is soundproofed, and we're pretty far underground, but how good is the signal shielding? I had to leave my comm with the Helveticans, but there's a lot of people running around with electromagnetic snooping abilities," Aaron explained.


  "Ah, but most of those abilities require active violation effects, so I suppose I never had to worry about them personally," Paul VII smiled in a reassuring, grandfatherly way. "But heavy shielding or jamming would interfere with other parts of the complex, so we prefer to rely on simply being careful about not letting electronics into the confessional."


  "And," the faint second voice seemed to mock, "no amount of shielding can protect you from your own guilty conscience, can it?"


  -+His reaction to that...he really thinks that voice is his conscience, doesn't he?+-


  +-That simplifies matters. If he's being manipulated rather than being allied to her, I think it's time to let him know what's going on.-+


  "No, shielding can't stop a guilty conscience," Aaron said aloud, and the Pope's eyes went wide. He felt his senses dull slightly as the older man drove his Anchor as hard as he could. "And I'm not reading your mind, your Holiness. Because you're not hearing the voice of your own conscience, you're hearing the voice of Mr. Strings."


  Lancing out faster than the eye could follow thanks to his "mind over body" talent, Contact drove the fingernail of his right little finger down the Pope's left ear, emerging with a small flap of what looked like skin, but with a tiny bump on the backside. Almost at the same moment as his hand came away from the Pope's head, the tiny bump detonated in a yellow flare.


  "Yah!" Aaron yelped as his finger was charred by the self-destructing device. He reflexively rerouted the pain response and started enhancing the healing process.


  Stunned, the Pope clutched the side of his head and stared at Aaron's burned finger.


  "No, not your conscience at all," Aaron repeated.


  * * * *


  [May 12, 2026 - Tegucigalpa, Honduras Sector]


  "Isthmus. TeGOOOciGALpa," Ross Hoekstra muttered under his breath. He figured it was about time to move on, given that he could finally pronounce the names of the State and city he was living in. "Honduras" was an easy one, of course, although picking up on the subtlety of the local pronounciation was a little tricky.


  Tegucigalpa was a nice enough place for a Sector capital in a Minor State, Hooks supposed. Most people preferentially spoke Spanish, but since English was the official tongue of the Combine Hooks could get by most places without having to break into his own halting Spanish. It was close enough to the "frontier" of South America that regulations were on the loose side, and it didn't take much to stay out of the official eye. But he did tend to stand out a bit, and he'd known from day one that he shouldn't get too comfortable.


  Besides, summer was approaching, and as nasty as a Manhattan summer *could* get, a Honduras summer was pretty much that way the whole season through, from what he'd heard.


  Hooks's blackcel purred in his pocket. If not for the fact he'd been obsessing about this call all week, he might have thought it coincidental that it came while he was thinking about moving on.


  "Hola, que pasa?" he answered. Protective coloration...anyone watching would think he was just talking to someone local.


  "She misses you, and wants you to come visit," spoke a carefully neutral, computer-modulated voice that could have been anyone, but Hooks knew it was either Marx or one of his flunkies.


  Mind you, Hooks could probably be considered one of Marx's flunkies at this point.


  "Usual way?" In other words, head to the airport, flash his very well-made fake ID and pick up tickets to wherever it was Marx wanted him to move next. Although, in this case, the code meant Gimble would be at the other end of the trip, and Hooks was trying very hard to not start jumping up and down in joy.


  "Yes. We'll see you in Detroit."


  The joy was replaced by a sense of unreasoning dread as the connection was cut and Hooks put away the phone.


  Why did it have to be Detroit? Hooks heard things, it was his power. People would unburden their greatest secrets to him. And bits and pieces about what he'd heard about Detroit told him that his irrational fear of the place wasn't so irrational.


  "They check in, but they don't check out," he muttered under his breath as he headed back for his apartment to start packing. The rent would keep getting paid for a few months, so if anyone had picked up his trail here it might get a chance ot go cold....


  * * * *


  [June 20, 2026 - Washington, Federal Sector]


  Unlike the confessional under the Vatican, this room was very heavily shielded against everything that the very paranoid Combine Security Agency people could think of, including the sort of Pranir-made neutrino transmitters they thought might have been part of the device Aaron had removed from the Pope.


  Much like that room, though, a great many sins were likely confessed in this room...but less for absolution and more to make sure everyone was on the same page. If you're going to sin, at least be organized about it.


  "I believe everyone's here," Chancellor Stockwell nodded, looking around at the small gathering. His position may have been the next best thing to a figurehead, but he did have the power of veto and enough personal influence over the Canadian House of Representatives that he was a lot more "in the loop" than one might think based purely on his Constitutional job description. "Senators, Director, Mr. Zander," he looked around the table.


  Jason Okuma, the senior of America's two Senators and likely the most politically powerful man in the Combine, got right down to business. "Just in case the company here doesn't make it painfully clear, Mr. Zander, we're not taking this matter lightly. State secrets may have a half-life somewhat shorter than that of a high transuranic element, but you will NOT be the one to kill this one off, got it? We're going to need every second we can get to try to do damage control groundwork before it comes out that the leader of the Catholic Church was being influenced...or even outright controlled...by Tyra Dumont."


  "You don't have to keep it entirely to yourself," Senator Juana Herrera temporized. The senior Senator of Mexico was notoriously comfortable in the role of "good cop" to Okuma's "bad cop" when it came to political wheeling and dealing. "Anyone fully cleared to know about the extent of the Strings affair will be getting briefed, or has already been briefed, depending on how quickly we could get them into a secure room. And that includes Miss Clark, obviously." The director of MetaPsych would be hard to keep out of matters in any case, was the unspoken coda.


  Aaron nodded. "I apologize for taking so long to get back, but..."


  "But when your hand explodes next to the Pope's head, it tends to raise all sorts of interesting and complicated questions, yes," Okuma smirked. "And you'd still be in the Vatican in time to see the Christmas Mass if I hadn't leaned on some friends in the EU. Fortunately, the telepathic message you sent to our security head in the Rome embassy let us get things moving while we waited for you to get back."


  "To get to the nub of things," Stockwell drummed his fingers on the tabletop, "how certain are you that it was Dumont at the other end of that communicator?"


  "Completely," Aaron assured them. "As part of our attempts to prepare for the return of the Impossible Five, I've reviewed recordings of all our fights against them, and the current Burnout is part of that footage. Her voice was electronically distorted, but I've got a rather good ear. She's also vicious enough that I doubt my removal of the device triggered the self-destruct...she probably sent a signal as soon as she realized she'd been compromised."


  Herrera arched an eyebrow. "And, hopefully, the Vatican can be convinced of that last point. Some voices within the Church are claiming your rash actions endangered the Pope, and if you'd left well enough alone an expert could have removed the device more safely. But," she shrugged, "that's neither here nor there. And the majority seem grateful that you saved him, so we're probably okay on that diplomatic score."


  The CSA director finally spoke up. Aaron didn't know his name, and suspected that any that might be offered would be false anyway. If the man wasn't an Anchor, he was as hard to telepathically read as one. "Based on what you *have* been able to tell us, I'm fairly confident we've identified the model of 'tap' that Dumont had on the Pope. It's a standard, if expensive, element of Pranir trade espionage. Planted on a willing agent, it's like putting a wire on them while having the option of remote 'suicide' in the event of capture. On an unwitting agent, it's usually not placed anywhere that the charge would be lethal. So, the question that's going to be keeping the Pope's security up nights is, 'How did Dumont get that thing in the Pope's ear?'"


  "The question *I* want answered is, 'Who wanted us to find it?' though," Aaron countered. "Someone laid a rather expensive false trail down, to point those investigating Marx's murder at the Pope. Unfortunately, about the only person I can eliminate as a suspect at this point is Burnout, since while she'd certainly like to see Marx dead, she wouldn't have done it in such a way that could lead to so valuable a puppet."


  "Fine," Okuma nodded. "And I agree, there's something fishy going on here, especially if news as big as the Pope's situation was only a by-blow. Once the Director here is done with you, I want you back on Marx's murder case. Someone's playing a very dangerous game, and I want to know the rules before we make a disastrous move."


  * * * *


  [May 16, 2026 - Detroit, Michigan Sector]


  "Kim Bell" watched nervously as the nurse carried "Cindy" from the room, then looked back at Doctor Albert Reyes.


  "Don't worry, Ms. Graves," the middle-aged hispanic man assured her. "You won't revert to your exoskeletal form while you're with me. And I think Innocenza needs to start getting used to time spent apart from you, lest separation anxiety become a serious issue for her later in life. She's not far, and I'll have her brought back in when we're done. Mr. Hoekstra will get some time to get acquainted with her as well," he grinned.


  Gimble had been glad to see Ross, but a little wary. Marx was bringing everyone important to her together, which could be just a convenient way to hold them over her head.


  "Now," Reyes steepled his fingers, "I think we can find a way to let you control your metamorphoses. You have, no doubt, been told at some point that Magene effects are purely exercises of the will, which probably made you feel even worse because it meant you couldn't even control your own power, yes?"


  Gimble nodded, apprehensively. The painful molting, the eating of offal...the first time someone had told her it had to be "voluntary" she nearly broke her code against making weapons in order to find a way to murder the guy.


  "You've had an extended period of 'normalcy' thanks to your daughter, so hopefully your psyche has healed in some ways, and your self-image has adjusted to match your current form," Reyes waved a hand up and down as if to take in Gimble's human body. "This will help a great deal if it is the case. But, I warn you, you likely have a great deal of buried trauma, and we're going to have to un-bury it before you can properly deal with it. This is the sort of thing I'd prefer to take slowly, over the course of many years, but..." he trailed off.


  "But Marx needs me functional as soon as possible," Gimble smiled wryly. "Or he needs to know for sure I'll never be of any use."


  "Harsh, but true," Reyes admitted. "And, as such, and because of certain exigencies I am not permitted to reveal, I am going to be...skirting the edge of professional ethics in our sessions. If not crossing several lines."


  "If it means I never have to be a humanoid dung beetle again, I'll risk it," Gimble snarled. "Let's do this."


  "Very well," Reyes sat back in his chair. "Let's start with the obvious place...the first time you transformed. I doubt the proximal trigger was the true cause of your problems, but it's as good a place as any to start."


  "It was the Fourth of July," Gimble started....


  * * * *


  [July 4, 2013 - Utica, New York Sector]


  Macy was in the garage. The Pattersons were her third foster family this year alone, and while they seemed nice enough, Macy was getting tired of being bounced around the system. People got tired of having their foster daughter wake up screaming in the middle of the night four or five times a week, she guessed.


  Macy could hear distant popping sounds, which made her uneasy. A lot of people in America still celebrated the old Independence Day, even though America had been made merely a part of the Combine years ago. And even though July Sixth was a day most people didn't want to celebrate at ALL. This year was the fifteenth anniversary of That Day, so a lot of official July Fourth celebrations had been cancelled.


  Macy wasn't sure what That Day really was, though. No one wanted to talk about it, all she'd gathered was that a lot of people died and all the heroes went away.


  Macy was only thirteen and she could have told you there were no heroes left in the world. She'd known that her entire life. If heroes existed, then she might not be with the Pattersons. Or the Ortegas before them. Or the Jacksons, the Prescotts...et cetera, et cetera.


  Macy turned her attention back to the small electric motor in her hands. It had belonged to a lawnmower, the chassis of which was stuck in a corner of the garage where it slowly fell apart. In the few months she'd lived with the Pattersons, all the lawn work had been done by a service anyway. Her "brother" Billy certainly never did any yard work. He just hung around with his stupid friends. Right now he was probably setting off illegal fireworks with them, accounting for the popping.


  Macy had found she had a knack for mechanical things, which was one of the reasons she'd been placed with the Pattersons this time. Utica was apparently a pretty good town for education, and she was going to get into some sort of magnet school for pre-engineering once the summer was over.


  Macy frowned as the popping got louder, closer. The sound nagged at her memory, but she forced it aside and concentrated on the motor, tracing the wiring and connections and trying to figure out what was wrong with it. Maybe she'd use it to make something that would kick Billy's butt for him. An automated butt-kicking machine. She smiled a little at the idea.


  Macy heard a faint creak and looked up just in time to see a hand reach through the slightly ajar garage door and toss in a firecracker. "Think fast, Messy!" she heard Billy's voice cackle.


  POW!


  Macy REMEMBERED. Images she'd kept hidden from herself for years, twisted by the passage of time, tied to that sound. They came flooding back, and it actually HURT. She hadn't thought sadness could actually feel like pain, but it DID! She probably screamed, she certainly felt like she should.


  Macy's vision blurred, separating into hundreds of facets for a moment before reassembling. She felt numb, somehow, and the clatter of the motor as it fell from her hands was strangely loud.


  Macy saw Billy stick his laughing, stupid face in through the door. Then she saw his mocking expression turn to horror. "BUG MONSTER!" he shouted, vanishing from sight as he ran screaming.


  Macy whirled around in alarm, mentally chiding herself for probably falling for another stupid prank. Nothing was behind her except the usual clutter. Wait...she could still see the front of the garage even while facing the back?


  Macy finally noticed her hands. The blackness on them was not grease, it was a hard chitinous shell. Her arms were spindly and covered in fine spiky hairs, and her shirt was straining against the new and utterly inhuman shape of her torso.


  Macy Graves fled into the dusk and was never seen again.


  Several days later, however, Gimble arrived in Manhattan....


  * * * *


  [May 16, 2026 - Detroit, Michigan Sector]


  Macy was shivering, her knees pulled up to her chest.


  Doctor Reyes let the silence go on for several long minutes, before finally asking, "What was it you remembered? What was the firecracker the trigger for? Can you remember that for me now?"


  * * * *


  [June 22, 2026 - Manhattan, Autonomous Sector]


  Another day, another secure meeting room. -+We're certainly spending a lot of time in this sort of place lately,+- Paul observed wryly. -+And each one more heavily secured than the last...the anti-psi shielding here is better than in Washington.+-


  "A point of pride," Gene Clark smirked. "Maybe not stronger, per se, but more precise, and it doesn't give me a headache. Not that the CSA goons care if they give telepaths a headache," she sniffed. As the Director of MetaPsych, she got enough headaches without inducing more artificially via psi heterodynes. Where most barriers to telepathy simply broadcast a white noise at the range of frequencies used by the human mind, the ones in MetaPsych installations were more like curtains than smokescreens. Of course, it took super-science to pull that trick off, unlike the normaltech heterodyne fields, but it was worth the extra investment in resources.


  "I don't think they care about giving normal people headaches either," Aaron shrugged. "Anyway, now that we've got the fields up, here's what I know that falls under your clearance," he flashed a bundle of information telepathically.


  "You're getting pretty good at compression," Gene nodded, as she skimmed the surface and started to pick apart the dense ball of data. It was a trick that really only worked with other telepaths and a few rare people with the right sort of mental discipline, but it saved a lot of time. The actual digestion of the information still took place at normal speeds, but if you had limited "face time" it allowed for making the best use of that time.


  "So. I have my suspicions, and the core point is that I think Jessa Dumont's the key to whatever Marx's plans were, regardless of whether this was a suicide or just an ongoing plot that got interrupted by an inconvenient murder. There's no way she's still mindblind," Aaron frowned. She had supposedly burned out her talent entirely in the act of sealing her sister away in Cockatrice's body [CSV #21 - Ed.], and had never admitted to having regained it, but no one at MetaPsych seriously believed she was still without psi ability.


  "And your little talk with Doctor Detroit was the key to your realization?" she smirked. TwenCen entertainment was popular at MetaPsych's Manhattan branch, and she quickly flashed a series of impressions into Aaron's mind to explain the joke.


  "Exactly," Aaron nodded. "Marx had plans for Jessa, and regardless of whether she was able to carry them out, she's got to know enough about this situation to be worth tracking down. This goes beyond a murder investigation now, it could have serious global...even interstellar...ramifications if things went the way they could have."


  "And if the plans went totally south, there's still a good likelihood that Jessa knows quite a bit about Marx's business dealings that even Mr. Whitman doesn't. Andrea scanned Whitman while you were gone, with his permission," she noted, referring to Andrea Roguelin, an empath who often worked with the NYPD. "Unless he's a lot better at concealing his thoughts and emotions than we think, he's utterly clean. Marx kept him out of the loop on the shadier stuff, apparently setting him up to take over just the legit business side without having to worry about any legal liabilities."


  "And the Pope was a dead end, productive as it may have been," Aaron countered. "He really didn't know anyone else we didn't already have on the list of possible suspects, and prior to Rebus's attempted elimination of all Anchors he wasn't even that high up in the old Conclave's power structure. He just ended up the equivalent of Assitant Director Callahan." Callahan had been the highest-ranking surviving member of the Federal Emergency Management Agency in 1998, and despite a marked lack of charisma or imagination he had been the "father" of the North American Combine, using FEMA's resources and "hidden" governmental powers to re-establish a stable government within weeks of the disaster of July 6, 1998. Like Callahan, Cardinal Stagliano hadn't been particularly big in the Conclave, he was simply the biggest fish they had left once Rebus was done.


  "Are you sure you need to do this, though?" Gene asked, genuine concern in her voice. "There's other ways to find Jessa. You don't need to use the chair."


  Aaron shook his head. "She's already had enough time to get offworld if that was part of the plan, in which case the Hlidskjalf is the only tool we have left with even the ghost of a chance," he referred to Odin's "high throne" at the top of one of the Trade Towers. Peregryn had used it a few times, but every attempt by telepaths from MetaPsych to make use of it had ended in fatality, or near enough. Everyone thought MetaPsych had free access to it, so the failures were one of the organization's more closely- guarded secrets.


  "You could at least get Peregryn to come to Earth and do it for you," Gene suggested.


  Aaron shook his head. "Much as I personally trust Howard's discretion, he's not cleared to know about some of this material. In fact, I was specifically directed by the Director of the CSA to *not* suggest he look into the matter unless there was absolutely no alternative. Never mind that he probably already knows most of it anyway. No, it's pretty much going to have to be me...or you, I suppose, since you have the clearance. But don't even suggest it. From all reports, the Hlidskjalf overloads telepaths, and your barriers aren't as strong as mine, especially since I've got Paul to watch my metaphorical back."


  "I know. I wrote most of those reports. I've seen with my own eyes, felt with my own mind, what happened to those poor bastards who volunteered to sit in Odin's throne," Gene looked away, tears forming at the corners of her eyes. "Can it at least wait until morning? I know it's selfish of me, but...."


  Aaron stepped closer and took Gene's slender body in his arms. "It's okay. You can be selfish tonight."


  ============================================================================


  Next Issue:


  What will Gimble remember, and will it help make her whole or simply shatter her to pieces? Will Contact be able to use the Hlidskjalf without frying his mind? Who will survive to see the end of ASH #92, Kheper's Path IV: Newborn Dawn?


  ============================================================================


  Author's Notes:


  No link to the comic "Crossing Midnight" is intended or implied, I've never even read it. :)


  The Hooks scene was originally going to reference the "Send him to...DETROIT!" scene from Kentucky Fried Movie, but I used that for the cover of The Reverse Engineers #2, so I changed things here.


  Speaking of changed plans, Gimble's Big Trauma was originally going to be revealed in this issue, but between the growing length of #91 and a realization that #92 would be stronger if I didn't spread out the climaxes, I decided to move the scene.


  Because I am a geek, I looked up the status of the Moon for the June 18 scene. In 2026, the New Moon is June 15, so the depiction on the cover is at least correct for the time of year, even if the scene on June 18 didn't take place at night.


  Finally, if you're wondering if you missed something important off- screen regarding the Aaron/Gene relationship, you'll just have to wait and see. :) Not all cliffhangers involve horrible fates....


  ============================================================================


  For all the back issues, plus additional background information, art, and more, go to http://www.eyrie.org/~dvandom/ASH !


  To discuss this issue or any others, either just hit "followup" to this post, or check out our Yahoo discussion group, which can be found at http://groups.yahoo.com/group/ash_stories/ !


  There's also a LiveJournal interest group for ASH, check it out at http://www.livejournal.com/interests.bml?int=academy+of+super-heroes


  ============================================================================


  #92 - Kheper's Path IV: Newborn Dawn


  The cover shows Gimble, in insect form, covered in blood spatters and huddled on a dirty kitchen tile floor, weeping. A gun is aimed at her head, held by a male hand, but the rest of the figure is off the edge of the page.


  



  ACADEMY OF SUPER-HEROES ROLL CALL



  CODENAME / REAL NAME / POWERS / ASSIGNMENT


  Solar Max / Jonathan Zachary "JakZak" Taylor / Spacetime Control / AMERICA


  Meteor / Sarah Grant-Taylor / Superspeed / AMERICA


  Scorch / Scott Handleman / Pyrokinetic / CANADA


  Green Knight / Salvatore Napier / Strength, Regeneration / MEXICO


  Fury / Arin Kelsey / Concussion Blasts / MEXICO


  Contact / Aaron Zander / Psi, Mind-over-Body / DIPLOMATIC


  Breaker / Christina Li / Telekinesis / DIPLOMATIC


  Essay / Sara Ana Henderson / Gadgeteer /VENUS


  Peregryn / Howard Henderson Jr. / Elemental Mage / VENUS


  Beacon / George Sylvester / Living Light / VENUS


  Geode / Unknown / Living Crystal / VENUS


  Lightfoot / Tom Dodson / Velocity Control / TRANSIT


  ------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  A Note To Readers:



  Yes, normally I do all the authorial comments at the end of the issue, but this story involves some things that readers may find particularly troublesome, and I felt I should warn you in advance.


  The way Magene powers work is that they're theoretically always voluntary, which means that anyone with powers they can't turn off is probably psychologically damaged in some way. For instance, a telepath who can't turn off his talent because he's paranoid and has a deep-seated need to know if anyone's thinking of hurting him. Or the case of the Base of the Pillar, who probably could have turned human if she hadn't feared the discovery that she *was* human (whether Geode could turn human is another matter entirely, it's possible she's stuck that way no matter how well- adjusted she eventually becomes).


  This issue looks at the events that made Gimble transform permanently into an insectoid, forced to moult painfully on a regular basis and feed on excrement. As one might imagine, under her seemingly sane facade there have got to be some serious issues, and some of those issues will come to light in this issue. Readers who think they might have trouble dealing with fictional accounts of childhood trauma and abuse should skip the scene set in 2008. I hope to present it in a respectful way, but since I never had such a significant trauma in my own life, I can't say for sure how "trigger-y" it might be for others.


  ------------------------------------------------------------------------------


  [May 16, 2026 - Detroit, Michigan Sector]


  Macy was shivering, her knees pulled up to her chest.


  Doctor Reyes let the silence go on for several long minutes, before finally asking, "What was it you remembered? What was the firecracker the trigger for? Can you remember that for me now?"


  * * * *


  [December 25, 2008 - Manhattan, New York]


  "I want a new mom for Christmas," Petey sighed. He was careful to say it quietly enough that only Macy could hear it over the artificially manic sounds of the holiday special showing on the television.


  Macy didn't say anything. Mom was better than dad, at least to her, even if she seemed a bit quick to give Petey a spanking when he did something wrong. Dad was mean, even if he never hit her. But she didn't want to get into a fight with her little brother, not on Christmas. Maybe Santa was just late. Dad had said Santa went away with all the other super people ten years ago, but he said that sort of thing all the time. The sort of thing he knew would hurt.


  "I don't like it when mom hits dad," Petey added. "It makes dad sad."


  Well, that was fine, as far as Macy was concerned. Dad deserved to be sad, the way he treated Macy. Even the worst bullies at school would get bored and move on to picking on someone else eventually, but it was like Macy was the only person dad *could* pick on. She wished he'd at least pick on Petey sometimes, instead of her. Even being quiet and ignoring dad didn't make him stop, and it usually worked on the bullies!


  Shouting started in the kitchen. Macy sighed and grabbed the remote, turning up the volume on the TV. They'd almost made it to lunch without a fight. At least most days, mom and dad were both at work most of the day, and Macy and Petey were at school, so they couldn't fight. With each other, anyway. But "Christmas is for family," like the TV kept saying, and they'd spent the whole day in the same apartment. It was a pretty big apartment, compared to the places Macy's few friends lived, but it would have had to be gigantic to keep everyone far enough apart to prevent fighting.


  The kitchen door flew open and dad stormed out, followed closely by mom. He was wearing his coat and tugging on a hat, as if he planned to go out.


  "...you ignore me, Steven!" mom bellowed as she slammed the door behind her.


  "I'll pay attention when you ha...OOP!" dad nearly tripped over Macy, then barely avoided stepping on Petey as he tried to recover his balance. "Damn it, you little cockroach! You almost made me hurt your brother! Why do you have to be underfoot all the time?"


  "Don't you use that tone of voice on my daughter," mom warned, a cold fire burning in her eyes. "She can't help it if you're...clumsy," she sneered.


  Dad *was* pretty clumsy, at least that was what she told her friends when they asked about his occasional black eyes or bruised hands. For a while, she'd even believed that, but she'd seen mom hit dad too many times now to accept the comforting lie.


  "Your daughter, and you're welcome TO her," dad spat back. "I didn't even want kids, but I thought maybe it'd bring out your maternal side and make you stop being such a queen *bitch*. If anything, it's made you worse. Hell, I'd wonder if Pete's even mine if I thought anyone else would *have* you!"


  "Oh, like you're anyone's idea of a prize," mom snarled. "You barely lasted long enough to squirt out your contribution to the runt, and you probably had to sneak a little blue pill to manage *that*."


  By this point, Macy had tuned the argument out and gone back to watching the TV. She didn't understand most of what they were talking about, but it was an old litany. She could probably recite the next minute's worth of argument from memory if she had to, even if she had no idea what it meant. The hitting would probably start about the time the next commercial break arrived.


  Petey had the routine memorized too, but he hadn't grown the same hard shell Macy had.


  "Mom, no! Don't hit dad again!" he ran up between the two.


  "God, shut your whining hole!" mom shouted. "You sound just like your father!" she punctuated the last with a savage swing of her open hand, intending to slap Petey across the face.


  But he tried to dodge and moved just the wrong way to get a little closer inside mom's swing. Instead of an open-palm slap, he got smashed across the forehead with the heel of mom's hand, a meaty THWACK that sent him spinning to the floor like a ragdoll.


  Everything was silent except for the cheerful chirping of a cartoon snowflake on the television.


  "Petey? Son?" dad knelt by the unmoving little body. He reached out tentatively, then pulled his hand back and reached into his coat, pulling something out and pointing it at mom.


  BLAM!


  Macy blinked at the sudden noise. Mom now had a ragged little hole in her forehead, and an awfully surprised expression.


  "Merry FUCKING Christmas," dad told mom. "I was wondering what it'd take for me to work up the guts to unwrap this little present," he turned to Macy and smiled, showing her what was very clearly a gun. "The gift that keeps on giving, cockroach. At least, it keeps giving for thirteen shots, plus one more if I keep a bullet chambered."


  "D-dad?" Macy stammered. "Is mom...?" When that happened to people on TV, on shows Macy wasn't supposed to watch, they tended to not get up again, unless they were super people. Mom was strong, but teacher said there weren't any more super people.


  "Your mom killed your brother, cockroach. I suppose I could plead self-defense, but what's the gods-damned point? She killed everything in me that was worth sticking around for, and Pete was the only thing keeping me going, hoping I could divorce her and take him away. You, though," he pointed the gun at Macy, and she shrank back towards the couch. "You're way too much like your mother. Oh, you're quiet now, but so was she when we first met. As soon as she knew she had me hooked, she started pushing, and pushing, and hitting...oh, clumsy me, tripping and falling face first onto her tae kwon do-trained fist. Five times."


  The gun lowered and Macy started to relax, although that only let her concentrate on the two bodies in the room, which made her whimper.


  "Fuck it all," dad sighed, standing up. "You may turn out just like her, but I can't shoot a kid. But I'm not gonna be around to find out who *you* push to the brink." He put the barrel under his chin. "Merry Christmas," he grinned down at her, then pulled the trigger.


  * * * *


  [May 16, 2026 - Manhattan, Autonomous Sector]


  As Devlin Marx watched Macy Graves choke out the words via the remote cameras installed in Doctor Reyes's office, he felt a pang of regret. Yes, it was probably for her own good to confront these issues, but doing so carefully, slowly...that would be doing it *for* her, rather than *to* her as was the case. But it was a terrible gamble for Devlin himself, weighing down his heart with the trial of Ma'at looming so near.


  He needed Gimble, whole and sane, or at least as sane as anyone in this world could be. His one slender chance at forestalling that meeting with Ma'at rested on Macy Graves's shoulders. And on convincing her that he'd kept his word to protect her even beyond his own death, should the plan fail. "Kim Bell" couldn't hope to keep Innocenza safe if she couldn't maintain the facade of her humanity, and she couldn't maintain that facade once it became necessary to be separated from the child Anchor.


  Not unless Doctor Reyes could find a way to resolve the issues that left Macy Graves trapped in the monstrous form of Gimble the beetle.


  "So far, so good," a female voice behind Devlin's shoulder observed. "She's not bugging out...in a literal sense, I mean."


  "At worst, the placebo effect is remaining in place," Devlin nodded to Jessa Dumont. Doctor Reyes had never actually said he was an Anchor, and he was not. He'd merely phrased things in such a way that his patient could choose to think he was an Anchor. Graves had remained in human form on her own for the entire session, despite Innocenza having been removed far from the room. "Although it's possible that the daughter of Rebus is already strong enough to maintain an Anchor based on propinquity rather than proximity, much like our departed Premier Xu could," he temporized. Even outside the boundaries of China, native-born Chinese paranormals had tended to have their powers dampened by the incredibly strong Anchor who led the People's Republic for the first quarter of the century.


  "Does she know her brother survived?" Jessa asked.


  "Yes," Marx nodded. "But he took an unlucky hit and needed to stay in the hospital for a long time. The first foster family that took Macy in wasn't prepared for a special needs child, so they were separated 'temporarily.' Eventually the system just pushed them apart...it was still rather broken as late as 2008. As far as I know, she hasn't had contact with him since shortly after their parents were killed, even by email. Not," he turned and arched an eyebrow, "that I expect his survival dampened the trauma any."


  "Fine," she shrugged. "Let's assume this part of it works. That Gimble has the sort of recovery you only see one in a million times in actual trauma treatment. Or at least finds a new way to be neurotic about it that leaves her functional and grateful. She makes your gizmos. I still don't think much of the odds of my own side in this little Hail Isis play in case we have to go to plan B," she smirked, tweaking Marx with a reminder of the syncretism between his faith and Christianity.


  "We know it's possible," Marx shrugged. "Maybe not for me, but it's been done at least once. And the alternative is quite inexorable, so I'm willing to take the chance. They may say that there are fates worse than death, but I know exactly what death holds for me now...and there's not much worse than that."


  "We all die eventually, Devlin."


  "Yes, we do. But if this plan works, I might have enough time to present Ma'at with a heart lighter than a feather after all...."


  * * * *


  [June 23, 2026 - Manhattan, Autonomous Sector]


  Despite the daunting task he'd set for himself today, Aaron's heart was lighter than it'd been in ages.


  -+Specifically, in two years, ten months, twenty-two days,+- Paul chimed in, "winking" internally.


  Aaron looked over at Gene, who was deactivating the security around Hlidskjalf, Odin's "high seat" on Earth, left behind at the top of the south tower of the World Trade Center. She had her "game face" on, but even a non-telepath could tell that she was practically glowing, her core happiness shining through the surface concern.


  +-You know all those athletes and warriors who say sex before a big day is a bad idea? Utterly full of crap,-+ Aaron thought to his other side.


  -+Frankly, it was about damned time,+- the echo of Paul Mahler in Aaron's mind shot back. -+I was this close to giving up and working out how to take control of our entire body just to end this dance you two have been going through. You didn't even have mourning as an excuse for the last bit of it, just cliched high school drama crap.+-


  +-What can I say? I'd never really done the courtship dance thing before. You and I just happened while I wasn't paying attention,-+ he grinned, just as Gene looked over at him.


  "You're talking to yourself again, aren't you? You hide it pretty well, but I can tell," she smirked.


  "Guilty. I was just berating myself for being such an idiot about us for so long."


  "Well, there was plenty of that to go around. A couple of relationship idiot savants, we two. Or three...not really sure how we should be counting Paul," Gene shrugged.


  -+Hey, I'm no idiot. And you may not have been paying attention back at the Academy, but I was trying very hard to make us 'just happen', thank you very much,+- Paul added, projecting so that Gene could hear. He could have spoken aloud, he'd always had that much control over the shared body, but it wasn't really necessary. Only the two...or three...of them were in earshot. The Hlidskjalf tended to have a spectacularly unpleasant effect on nearby telepaths when it went active. And a lethally unpleasant one on any who sat in it, at least so far. Everyone else in the complex with an iota of telepathic talent had retreated to shielded rooms or simply found reasons to be out of town.


  "Aaron, I'm glad I waited for you," Gene said, her mask slipping. "I mean, to go all the way," she amended, alluding to the short relationships she'd had with other men during the long "dance". "I just hope this wasn't the last time," she glanced nervously at the simple throne. It didn't even look like modern concepts of a throne, being of an ancient Norse make, a backless bench with rudely carved armrests. Such a simple thing to hold so much power, so much death.


  "Me too," Aaron nodded, without expanding on it. She knew what he meant, after all. "We're as ready as we're going to be, I think. You'd better get downstairs so you don't get caught in the fringes."


  "And so I don't have to feel you die," Gene said. They both knew it, and knew the other knew. But she obviously felt this was one thing that *did* need to be said aloud.


  "Not gonna happen. It'll take more than seeing everything everywhere to break us. Well, maybe Paul will break, but I'll be okay," he winked.


  -+Hey!+-


  Gene smiled weakly, then resolutely turned and left the room, heading for the elevator banks.


  Aaron waited several long minutes, and then his blackcel finally chirped. "I'm secure," Gene said when Aaron picked up. Due to the high security of MetaPsych's Manhattan installation and the large number of psi-shielded rooms, even the telepaths carried the ultra-secure gene-locked communications devices.


  "Right. Talk to you later," he said, hanging up. +-Time to sit or get off the pot, I guess.-+


  -+Ow. Odin should smite you for that.+-


  +-I hear he likes puns.-+


  -+Yeah, and you just committed a crime against punning.+-


  +-Everyone's a critic,-+ Aaron grinned as he walked over to the wooden bench. As he got closer, he could feel its power, its majesty. A presence that was barely contained by the physical object...in truth, Hlidskjalf was no mere artifact, it was a protrusion of Asgard into Midgard. When the Barrier had been intact, it had surrounded the throne in an impenetrable wall, but Peregryn had been able to access it once Devastator's plans had weakened the walls between realities. [Warden #7 - Ed.] Since then, however, none but Peregryn had been able to sit on the Hlidskjalf without being driven mad or worse.


  He concentrated on the runic pattern Peregryn had taught him, and hoped he'd gotten it right. He hadn't the time to travel to Venus to learn it in person, and Peregryn wasn't sure he was physically able to return to Earth, so they had been forced to use radio contact with a several minute lag time.


  Then he sat.


  And


  the


  world


  opened


  its


  eyes


  * * * *


  Then Aaron saw the Scytharian energy-body attack units rush the cube and shatter it. He saw the cloud reach out for his teammates, saw it extend a tendril towards Essay...and saw Paul struggle to his feet and throw Essay out of the way, only to be enveloped himself.


  --PAUL!!--


  Aaron felt the life drain from Paul's body, felt the connection between mind and flesh weaken. No! He wouldn't let Paul die that way! Aaron pulled up memories of several months ago in the Amazon, of how he pulled the young Cross's spirit from his body.


  * * * *


  Aaron looked up and shivered. The sky was filled with the bloated, ruby-red image of the Sun, now larger than the orbit of Venus and looming overhead like a death sentence. Cold winds blew, but they weren't why he shivered. No, it was more than that.


  * * * *


  Aaron stood over the body of a man he did not know, yet he did know. Familiar minds hovered nearby, but he couldn't focus on them. It felt important, like the closing of a door, but he couldn't...


  ...quite...


  * * * *


  "Wakey-wakey," a voice rasped in Aaron's right ear.


  "You wouldn't want to sleep through your own death, would you?" a nearly identical voice croaked in his left ear.


  Aaron didn't remember falling out of the Hlidskjalf. In fact, he was pretty sure there was a lot that had just happened that he didn't remember, and that he was probably better off for not remembering it. He opened his eyes and sat up.


  He definitely didn't remember traveling to a blasted plain dotted with gnarled and dead trees. In one of those trees sat a pair of crows.


  "We're ravens, not crows," the one on the right sniffed.


  "Not that we really expect humans to remember the difference," the one on the left added snarkily.


  "Or even think to ask," the one on the right nodded.


  "I take it you two are Hugin and Munin?" Aaron asked, standing so that he was at eye level with the two ravens.


  "No, we're Heckle and Jeckle," the one on the left retorted.


  "Actually, we're both," the one on the right admitted. "Someone at that cartoon studio read a book on Norse myth at some point and a few ideas stuck, even if he didn't realize it himself. I'm Hugin, and my thoughtless brother is Munin."


  "Actually, seeing newsreel footage of that hot Jotun the Nazis summoned during World War II inspired Paul Terry to look into Norse myth, although by the time he created Heckle and Jeckle in 1946 he'd largely forgotten about it. He even made us magpies, the indignity of it all," Munin sighed.


  "Actually," Aaron smirked, emphasizing the word that both ravens had used, "I'm more curious why I'm here than about TwenCen cartoons."


  "ACTUALLY," Hugin croaked, "you've got a different question burning in your brain, but I'll answer the semi-existential one first. You were on your way to a burnout, like all the other telepaths who tried to use Odin's throne."


  "Poor bastards," Munin shook his head.


  "We've been keeping an eye on things since your pal Howie managed to perform the correct rites to make it work for him. And, um, you didn't learn the rites right, pal," Hugin advised Aaron. "Close, but no cigar. But the whole two-for-one thing caught our eyes."


  "We have this thing for duality. Whodathunkit?" Munin smiled, a disturbing effect on a non-cartoon bird.


  "Long story short, you amused us enough to save you from yourself," Hugin shrugged. "The Hlidskjalf isn't for mortals, though, tell your telepath buddies that. Why the boss hasn't repo'ed it yet, we dunno, but he doesn't tell us all his plans."


  "Or even many of his plans," Munin griped. "He's worried we'll talk."


  "Of *course* we'll talk! It's what he made us for!" Hugin sighed. "ANYway, we're gonna send you back, and because we're swell guys and you've been a lovely audience, you're getting one answer. Go east, young man. You'll find your villains at Camp Hero."


  * * * *


  Aaron woke up, on the floor next to the Hlidskjalf.


  -+Ow.+-


  +-No kidding.-+


  * * * *


  [June 23, 2026 - Camp Hero Park, Montauk Point, New York Sector]


  The helicopter took a quick turn around the decommissioned radar antenna that was once tasked with coastal defense and landed in a bit of cleared ground just outside the fence around the AN/FPS-35 dish.


  "Detective Kelly, please hang back," Aaron warned. "There's a good chance there'll be some sort of defenses here, and even if there's an Anchor involved, I'm still a lot more durable than you are."


  The NYPD detective nodded. "I'm outside my jurisdiction anyway, this is your case." He didn't expand on that, because he wasn't entirely sure what jurisdiction *did* apply...was this Contact's case as a member of the Combine's law enforcement system, or Aaron Zander's case on behalf of the semi-private institution MetaPsych? Either way, he didn't want to get caught in the gears.


  In fact, he really didn't want to be there at all.


  "I think we should turn around and go," Detective Kelly suggested, putting a hand on Aaron's shoulder as the superhuman was about to disembark.


  "Yeah, I have a bad feeling about this place," the pilot nodded. "But I'm not sure it's my feeling," he frowned.


  "That's your training kicking in," Aaron told the pilot. "Someone here is projecting a strong telepathic 'Go Away' message. Probably our missing Dumont."


  "Can you stop it?" Kelly asked. "I'm really not liking the fact that I can't make myself get out of the copter...it's like a panic attack."


  "On it," Aaron nodded. +-Let's go,-+ he added to his other half.


  -+Going. She knows we're here, she's cranking up the brute force, but I think she knows she can't get to us. We'd better bail before she makes the pilot do something unfortunate.+-


  "Everybody out of the pool," Aaron said, grabbing Kelly and the pilot and hauling them out of the vehicle with his superhuman strength.


  -+She's leaking like a sieve now...I don't think she's at full strength, and she had to push a bit too hard just now,+- Paul noted. -+I've got a fix on her location...and a really interesting bit of memory....+-


  * * * *


  [June 13, 2026 - Manhattan, Autonomous Sector]


  From the point of view of someone else's eyes, Aaron and Paul stand between two couches, somewhere in a basement beneath the Cloisters.


  On one couch lies Devlin Marx, showing clear signs of the degenerative disease that was killing him. He's wearing some sort of headset, and the phrase "pattern stabilizer" comes unbidden to Aaron's mind. A catheter hooked to the inside of his thigh is draining all the blood from his body via the femoral artery, killing him slowly but surely.


  On the other is an unfamiliar figure, a young Chinese man with unremarkable features. He has no mind at all, and vague memories of scouring that slate clean bubble around the edges of the current images. It is a clone, quick-grown using Santari technology from samples taken from Chinese Anchors. The clone does not seem to have an Anchor effect of its own, however.


  A medical monitor hooked to Marx pings, indicating that all vital signs except brainwaves have flatlined. The man is as dead as he can be allowed to get.


  The purloined memory flares white with overload for a moment.


  When the image clears again, there is an impression that several minutes have passed. The person viewing the scene is taping a small antimatter mine to Marx's thigh, covering the incision made for the exsanguination. The blood has all been pumped back into his body, and it is being wheeled upstairs to his office.


  Marx is positioned in his chair, and the timer on the mine is set.


  The memory ends....


  * * * *


  [June 23, 2026 - Montauk Point, New York Sector]


  Once Paul had ferretted out that memory, the telepathic attack stopped. Dumont, for that's who it clearly was, had realized the jig was up. It had taken a few minutes for Aaron and Detective Kelly to make their way through the underground passages of the decommissioned secret research base under Camp Hero, but in the end it was almost anticlimactic.


  "You got me," Jessa sighed as the two entered the recommissioned infirmary room.


  Lying on an examination bed, in a hospital gown, was the Chinese Anchor clone from the memory. He stared blankly at the ceiling, and when Aaron focused his telepathy on the man he got a jumble of what felt like hissing radio static.


  "It didn't work," Jessa shrugged. "However you managed to copy over Paul's memories, it must have been more than just telepathy. Oh, Gimble's device worked, all the brain patterns stayed stable long enough for me to copy them. But it's just a jumble of memories in there," she gently stroked the prone man's forehead. "No personality. No *person*. I was hoping it was just transfer shock, and I'd be able to help put the pieces back together in time, but that seems...unlikely now."


  "Gimble?" Detective Kelly frowned. "What's she..."


  "Later," Aaron interjected. "There's a LOT of loose ends and revelations here, I think we'll be a while sorting them all out. But let's get the main point straight here. Jessa, Marx was trying to cheat death here? Transfer his mind into a clone?"


  Dumont nodded. "The ideal plan was to have Gimble create a device to copy his brainwaves, so we could get Devlin Junior running while the alpha was still alive. We'd have had the copy appear with Marx a few times, establish his cover ID, and make it a little more plausible that he'd be inheriting Marx's empire. There were some metaphysical issues with the plan, but it seemed the safest overall. But we didn't have enough time. Devlin's condition was getting worse, and fast. So we had to...well, I know you grabbed that memory. Let him die, stabilize his engrams and then I could copy them over once the Anchor effect faded. They copied, but it was like shoving a model ship into a bottle *after* building it. All the pieces are inside the bottle, but it doesn't look like a ship anymore. It may eventually look like a ship again, with a lot of careful work, but it won't be the same ship."


  "And all the evidence pointing to various suspects in his 'murder' was just icing on the cake?" Kelly frowned.


  Jessa smiled wryly. "Waste not, want not. Dev knew he'd be leaving a corpse, why not set up a flashy murder and leave trails pointing at people he might not have time to deal with later? Even in his most optimistic moments, Marx didn't give this plan more than a five percent chance of working, and he said it'd lighten his heart to make sure some of this business got taken care of. I guess a series of 'to be opened in the event of my death' letters wasn't elegant enough for him."


  "Something tells me you're going to have to write this one up as 'unsolved,' Detective Kelly," Aaron said. "Unless you really want to figure out how to deal with suicide-by-proxy of a man who may not actually be permanently dead...."


  * * * *


  [June 24, 2026 - Chicago, Illinois Sector]


  "Executive summary, please," Solar Max said. He and Aaron were sitting alone in the conference room of the main ASH HQ.


  "Marx is still dead. His clone copy has documentation setting him up as a legal heir, with Jessa Dumont as conservator, but it's unlikely that's going to stand now, especially given that it may be years before the clone develops a personality. Ben Whitman will run things until the courts figure out how to deal with the legal status of a mindless clone, and it'll take a while since we have to keep the security clamped down pretty tight on this one," Aaron shrugged.


  "Right, better to avoid inspiring any, um, copycats," Solar Max winced at his own inadvertant pun. "There's a lot of rich non-Anchors who might think they can get away with this sort of stunt if they find out how close Dumont came to succeeding."


  "On the down side, whoever provided the cloned body hasn't been able to crack the whole Santari clone rejection problem," Aaron sighed. "That'd put organleggers out of business pretty quickly if they'd solved the rejection thing. On other fronts, the rocks that Marx kicked over in his fake murder mystery are yielding all sorts of creepy crawlies, and not all of them have managed to scuttle out of sight. And it looks like we finally know who Hellhound is...Paul managed to pick up a few other bits of information during our initial psychic struggle with Dumont. Hellhound is three different women, one of them being Dumont herself, and another is one of our old classmates, Beth Willot. The third has an attachment to Warden. That's an issue I'm more than happy to kick up the ladder, though."


  "And I'm going to keep kicking it further up," Solar Max frowned. "I don't like the idea of outing one of the only people inside Manhattan who's doing good and not under Umbrae's thumb, but I'm not comfortable with keeping that particular secret from our bosses. We'll let them decide how to play this one, I'm sure they have more information about the situation on the ground in Manhattan than I do at this point."


  "Finally, Gimble's vanished again. Once she finished building the gadget for Marx, she took her daughter and went to ground again. Dumont was able to block me from getting a clear look at her face in any memories, but apparently part of her 'payment' from Marx included help in learning how to return to human form without needing an Anchor around. However, we should be able to figure out what she looks like, since we know she was on Venus and now, well, she isn't. There weren't a whole lot of people there with infant daughters, after all," Aaron concluded.


  There was a pause, as Solar Max pondered something. Finally, he asked, "Aaron, do you think there was ever a chance of Marx's plan working? After all, you got it to work...well, not the way you wanted it to, I know, but still. [As detailed in various parts of ASH #9-16 - Ed.] And there's signs that at least one version of Peryton was a successful clone. Could Marx really be in there, faking the scrambled state?"


  Aaron shrugged. "I can't speak to Peryton's case, we don't even know for sure what happened. It could just be another Myriad faking it, all we know for sure is that the one Rebus killed [in Capstone #2 - Ed.] was genuine. But in Paul's case, you have to remember that he and I were closer than any two normal people can ever be, and we were that way for years. When I pulled his memories into my own brain, there was already a Paul-shaped space for them to occupy. To extend a metaphor Jessa used, my bottle had a hole in it exactly the right shape for the ship to pass through unharmed. In a lot of ways, each of us already existed in the other's mind as a faint copy before Paul died, all I did was flesh out the details of my copy of him. With no pattern to follow, it would have taken a lot more luck than Marx had left in order to just happen to slap all the pieces together in a useful way."


  "So, whatever eventually wakes up in that body won't be Devlin Marx."


  "Nope," Aaron shook his head. "But he'll probably have all of Marx's memories, which makes that a very dangerous person to leave loose...."


  * * * *


  [June 24, 2026 - Manhattan, Autonomous Sector]


  "See you next week, Mister Li," Maddy said as one of the Grocery Store's regular customers walked out. The store over the secret entrance to her grandfather's old hideout [first seen in Warden #11 - Ed.] was actually a profitable concern these days, what with the upswing in the island's population and economy. It seemed like every day she got another new regular customer, and she'd had to hire several part-timers to cover things while she was off on...extracurricular activities.


  To wit, the middle-aged woman who was only now approaching the counter. She had the stamp of a mid-level government functionary, probably one of the people Umbrae had brought in to help manage the increasingly "respectable" city government.


  "I am interested in a dog," the woman said.


  "Er, this isn't a pet store," Maddy blinked.


  "Oh, I know. But this is a very particular sort of hound, and I think you can help me with it. Especially now that your business partners may no longer be able to take care of the hound, yes? Miss Dumont has a few too many eyes on her now, and Marshal Willot is far too busy with her day job."


  Maddy stepped back and started to reach behind her for a concealed shotgun. "What are you..."


  "Relax, Miss Chin. I represent some interested breeders, if you will, and I think I can help you find new partners with a bit more time on their hands for taking care of animal control here in Manhattan. People who aren't under any...shadows...of suspicion, at that...."


  ============================================================================


  Next Issue:


  More of the cast comes back on screen as the franchises of the Impossible Five start to get going and "Roll the Bones"....


  ============================================================================


  Author's Notes:


  For anyone who didn't get the full symbolism on "Kheper's Path", this might help: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Khepri


  Of course, just because the Sun rises again every morning doesn't mean that resurrection is easy, even if you have a scarab helping push. Best-laid plans gone agly is one of the themes of this arc, with Marx being oh-so- clever only to have it all fail on him in the end...and at the same time, managing to knock a bunch of other people's plans off the rails. Of course, Marx may have seen his own survival as mere icing on the cake, and the giant middle finger to his rivals upon his death being the true goal. Who can say? Well, I could, but I won't. ;) He also managed to mess up a lot of his presumed allies as well, so there may have been more of Set than Kheper in the final results.


  My goals in this arc included getting Marx out of the picture, getting Gimble out of her Venusian stasis, tying off that whole Pope thing that never really went anywhere after we got Gimble offworld, and giving Contact the spotlight for a bit. I also managed a few other things that weren't goals going in, but that tends to happen to me, a lot of playing by ear.


  Devlin Marx's passing reference to "the system" being broken in 1998 bears a little more explanation than would fit into the second scene. You see, in addition to the general chaos in the wake of the "False Rapture" on July 6, 1998, there was a sudden spike in the population of orphans. A child old enough to be distinct from their mother (a point usually reached about the time they'd have been weaned, as far as the rapturing effect was concerned) but young enough to be incapable of truly worshipping any god would be left behind. Infants tended to vanish with a pagan mother, and older children would often be sufficiently inculcated into their parents' religion to be taken on their own, but that left a significant number of toddlers as orphans on July 6, 1998. Sadly, a great number of them died of neglect before anyone got organized to seek them out, but most were saved by neighbors or even good samaritan passersby. And even considering that most ended up adopted by their rescuers, just trying to keep all of *that* within the legal strictures was more burden than most child welfare offices could handle.


  The system simply broke down. A lot of kids got "adopted" in ways that would later be recognized as common law (a bill passed in the 2010s retroactively made all these adoptions official), and the remnants of the child welfare system did the best they could in a patchwork way.


  By 2008 there was something resembling a national network of foster homes and adoption agencies again, but it was still pretty obviously one of those "spit and baling wire" affairs, and a lot of kids fell through the cracks. Keeping siblings together was simply not possible in most cases, and priority was on getting kids settled with someone, with a wistful hope that someday families could be reunited. In the case of Macy and Petey Graves, that reunion never happened.


  The dance between Aaron and Gene started in earnest in ASH #18, although she was giving Aaron the eye on their first meeting in ASH #10. That makes this one of the longest-simmering subplots in all of the ASH Universe (Arin and Sal started back in Academy #0, although one might argue it resolved a while back).


  The first scene Aaron saw after sitting on Hlidskjalf was taken from ASH #9, when Paul Mahler died. The third took place later in this issue, as he stood over the cloned body containing Marx's memories. As for the second, you'll have to wait and see. Muahaha.


  The "hot Jotun" Munin mentioned is the mother of the first Rechtigkeit, grandmother of Herr Stark. Norse myth has a long tradition of Jotunesses being extremely attractive, at least when young. It's the original for the sci fi trope of the alien race with uberbabe females and males who look like something you scraped off your boot. :) Oh, and Hugin is "thought" while Munin is "memory," something I tried to evoke in their choice of words and topics. [Later note: I incorrectly has Hugin as Hunin when this issue was first posted.]


  Camp Hero was the site of the alleged "Montauk Project", a spinoff of the Philadelphia Experiment. In the ASH Universe, the Montauk Project was real, but how successful it was has not yet been revealed. At some point the property ended up in the ownership of Devlin Marx, although whether it was Anchor-owned as far back as the 1980s for Very Good Reasons would be part of that "not yet been revealed" bit. For those interested, more info on Camp Hero can be found at http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Camp_Hero .


  The various references to Marx wanting a lighter heart go back to his belief in ancient Egyptian myth. Upon death, a person's soul is weighed against the feather of Ma'at, goddess of truth. If it is too weighed down by sin, it gets fed to Amnut, a monster/goddess/demon with the front end of a crocodile and the rear of a hippo (as happened to Rebus in Capstone #3). It's entirely possible that a successful cloning would merely have given Amnut one heart to eat and another heart to later get past. Maybe Marx's dying acts were enough to get him past Amnut, maybe they weren't...he had a LOT weighing on his heart. But I'd rather leave that particular mystery unsolved.


  Apologies for the somewhat wordy "executive summary" scene, but I really didn't want to push that stuff off into #93, and felt some of the vaguer bits needed nailing down. Okay, that may be a sign of lacking confidence in my own storytelling, but better safe than sorry. It's not like I have to fit into 22 pages, and after my usual late summer hiatus I figured readers deserved a nice big issue.


  ============================================================================


  For all the back issues, plus additional background information, art, and more, go to http://www.eyrie.org/~dvandom/ASH !


  To discuss this issue or any others, either just hit "followup" to this post, or check out our Yahoo discussion group, which can be found at http://groups.yahoo.com/group/ash_stories/ !


  There's also a LiveJournal interest group for ASH, check it out at http://www.livejournal.com/interests.bml?int=academy+of+super-heroes


  ============================================================================
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